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A T  A  G L A N C E

PANDEMIC  
RESPONSE USED AS 
EXEMPLARY MODEL 

by Universities UK & University 
and Colleges Employers 

Association

BEST UNIVERSIT Y  
IN THE WORLD 
for sports-related  

subjects for the  
fifth year running

QS World University  
Rankings by Subject 2021

TOP THREE 
FOR OVERALL 

SATISFACTION *

National Student  
Survey 2021

HIGHEST RANKING 
UNIVERSIT Y IN  

THE MIDLANDS IN  
ALL MA JOR UK  

LEAGUE TABLES

IN THE  
COMPLETE 

UNIVERSIT Y  
GUIDE 2022

out of 130 UK universities

IN THE TIMES AND 
SUNDAY TIMES 

GOOD UNIVERSIT Y 
GUIDE 2021

TH

UK 
UNIVERSIT Y

Best UK Universities 2021 
StudentCrowd

TOP

*Based on English HEIs excluding specialists, FECs and alternate providers
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I began my role as Vice-Chancellor of 
Loughborough University in October of this year, 
meaning the academic year for 2020/21 had 
already concluded. During the process of joining 
the University though, I was very aware of the 
work that was happening across both our East 
Midlands and London campuses. 

From the outset, the year was always going to be one of 
challenge, the unknown, transition and fast actions.

The University reacted remarkably in managing the effects  
of the pandemic. The approach and measures put in place  
were used as an exemplar for others by both Universities UK 
and the Universities and Colleges Employers’ Association.

The University’s sense of community was greater than ever. 
Over 300 staff and students volunteered to help individuals  
that were isolating, dealing with almost 2,000 requests in total. 
Over 120,000 meals were also delivered to students isolating  
on campus. People didn’t support this activity because they  
had to, they did it because they wanted to. As we move beyond 
the pandemic, I hope this kindness and greater concern for 
others will continue.

It was also a year of success away from pandemic- 
related activity.

The University performed well in all the major league tables 
and in several student review-related awards and rankings. 
Recognition like this, from the University’s students, is 
increasingly important in the challenging climate higher 
education currently finds itself in.

We threw our energies into developing research that  
addresses the challenges society faces. We supported and 
encouraged business growth through our work in enterprise, 
delivering initiatives that boosted local and regional prosperity. 
And at the very end of the academic year, our athletes gave  
us all reason to celebrate, with their incredible performances  
at the 2020 Olympic and Paralympic Games in Tokyo. 

V I C E - C H A N C E L L O R 
F O R E W O R D

O U R  
H I S T O R Y

A Technical Institute 
is established in 
Loughborough

1909

1920
Newly named 

Loughborough College 
is granted its own 
Armorial Bearings

Loughborough College of Advanced 
Technology becomes Loughborough 
University of Technology, after being 

awarded a Royal Charter in recognition of 
its excellence and achievements to date

1966

We also made many positive steps in the areas of equality, 
diversity and inclusion, and sustainability. With social 
responsibility at the forefront of our new strategy, this work  
is providing the vital foundations for our drive for inclusivity  
and to protect the environment around us. 

Everything detailed within this report, demonstrates the 
hard work, commitment and excellence of the staff here at 
Loughborough, as well as our wider university community;  
a community that I am very much looking forward to working  
with over the next academic year.

“I hope that the coming year will bring more positive 
change and that we can start to see the vibrant 
atmosphere on campus that Loughborough University  
is renowned for return.”

Professor Nick Jennings CB, FREng
Vice-Chancellor and President of Loughborough University
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O U R  
U N I V E R S I T Y

2021
Loughborough is named the best university 
in the world for sports-related subjects in 
the QS World University Subject Rankings 

for the fifth year running

1994 
The University wins 

the first of seven 
Queen’s Anniversary 
Prizes for Higher and 

Further Education

The University  
is renamed 

Loughborough University

1996

2015 
Loughborough 

University London 
opens

Olympic legend  
Lord Sebastian Coe  

is named as the 
University’s Chancellor

2017

WE ARE  
THE LEADING 
UNIVERSIT Y  
FOR SPORT 

with opportunities for  
all to participate

WE HAVE T WO  
INSPIRING CAMPUSES 

Our main East Midlands 
campus and our postgraduate 

campus, Loughborough 
University London

WE HAVE  
OVER 18,500 

STUDENTS  
ACROSS BOTH 

CAMPUSES

WE OFFER ONE OF 
THE BEST STUDENT 

EXPERIENCES IN  
THE COUNTRY

with Loughborough 
Students’ Union (LSU)

WE ARE A  
RESEARCH-INTENSIVE 

INSTITUTION 
delivering new knowledge and 

understanding that helps to 
improve the quality of people’s lives

WE OFFER 
UNDERGRADUATE, 

POSTGRADUATE TAUGHT 
AND POSTGRADUATE 

RESEARCH PROGRAMMES 
across a wide range of disciplines

ENTERPRISE IS AT THE 
HEART OF OUR ACTIVITIES

enhancing the student 
experience, creating impact  
from research, and driving 

regional prosperity
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The success Loughborough University enjoys 
is built on the hard work and high standards 
achieved by our staff and students. These  
high standards stem from our ambitious 
outlook, which is reflected in our Building 
Excellence strategy. The 2020/21 academic 
year marked the final year of this successful 
strategy. We move into the next year with  
new strategic focus and vision, to continue  
to build on the University’s position as a 
world-leading institution.

Building Excellence 
Our current strategy, Building Excellence, emphasised 
the need for us to raise our aspirations and, in a highly 
competitive global higher education environment, 
compete on quality.

The strategy’s key ambitions were to create and achieve: 
a distinctive international reputation for excellence; a 
life-shaping student experience; outstanding partnerships 
that deliver social, economic and cultural prosperity; a 
culture of delivering excellence in all that we do; and one 
outstanding university with two vibrant campuses.

Council has been responsible for monitoring the 
University’s performance in delivering the Building 
Excellence strategy. Council considers a suite of over 
30 key performance indicators (KPIs) aligned to the five 
ambitions set out above, together with an overarching 
measure of financial sustainability and an overall 
assessment of institutional performance. These KPIs 
are kept under constant review, as is our benchmark 
for success which continues to rise in line with our 
performance expectations. Key performance indicators 
are reflected in the graphics and statistics that appear 
throughout this strategic report.

O U R 
S T R A T E G Y
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A new vision to take us forwards
The University’s new strategy will focus on how the 
University contributes towards creating a sustainable 
future. Some of the broad strategic aims of our next 
strategy include:

• A commitment to play our part in tackling the 
causes, and mitigating the impact, of climate change. 

• Using our expertise in sport and exercise science to 
improve mental and physical wellbeing, particularly 
in the aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic.

• Working to reduce the inequality that fuels division 
across our communities and society.

• Equipping our students with the knowledge and 
skills they need to help create a sustainable future.

• Developing our estate and changing working 
practices with a plan to reduce the University’s 
carbon footprint to net zero.

• Become an engine of economic growth in the region 
and work with civic partners to ensure that the 
University’s presence enriches the local area.

Sector changes and challenges
The higher education environment is continuously 
evolving; presenting us with new challenges to 
overcome and opportunities to embrace. Both our 
current and new strategies have been designed to 
support us in anticipating and responding to change, 
to enable us to remain in a strong position.

COVID-19: The pandemic continues to present the 
sector with new challenges. The University’s  
approach to these challenges will not change;  
we will continue to identify and adjust to change,  
whilst delivering our core principles.

Rising demand for university places: Competition 
for university places is growing and increasing the 
need for more available places. There are several 
contributory factors, including the impact of the 
pandemic on the graduate job market, grade inflation, 
and higher student aspirations. Also, a rise in the 
number of 18-year-olds, which is expected to continue 
over the next few years, is adding to potential rapid 
student number growth. 

Increased competition: The removal of the student 
numbers cap and an increasing number of alternative 
and private providers has contributed towards  
growing competition in the sector.

Higher Education and Research Act 2017: Adding to 
the above, the most significant sector legislation in 
25 years has been passed. The full potential impact 
of the legislation on the sector is still unclear, but 
new rules and regulations will make teaching quality 

Both our current and new strategies 
have been designed to support us 
in anticipating and responding to 

change, to enable us to remain in a 
strong position.

transparent and ensure that the level of investment 
made by students is matched by the value of their 
course/programme. 

Research: Under the same Act, the seven existing 
Research Councils were brought together into a  
single body. Concerns were raised that this could 
lead to the loss of the close relationships between 
specialist funding bodies and research groups that 
have created a system of effective funding that 
nurtures world-class research. 

Overseas recruitment: Several challenges over the 
last few years, including changes to the student 
immigration policy and visas, and the impact of 
the EU Referendum result, have made it difficult to 
set realistic recruitment targets for international 
students. The pandemic also continues to present 
issues around global mobility.

Student expectations: The rise of tuition fees in 2010, 
followed by the restrictions on in-person teaching 
during the pandemic has created greater expectations 
from students regarding the experience they receive.

Frozen fees: Other than a small increase in 2017/18, 
tuition fees have barely changed since 2012 and are 
currently frozen. Operational costs continue to rise, 
which makes the sustainability equation increasingly 
difficult to balance.

Augar Review: In early 2021, the Department for 
Education published an interim response to the 
recommendations made in the Augar Review of  
Post-18 Education and Funding, highlighting that 
the sector continues to be challenged in the funding 
regime. The full impact of the review and implications 
for the sector are likely to be set out in the 
Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review  
in the autumn.

Rising pension costs: Increases in pension 
contributions put pressure on employment costs.

Health and Social Care Levy: In September 2021,  
a new levy was introduced by the Government as 
a long-term solution to funding health and social 
care. It will tax the earnings of both employers and 
employees, in the same way that National Insurance 
contributions are made. 

Reduction in teaching grant to universities: During  
the Autumn Statement in 2015 it was announced  
that the teaching grant to universities would be 
reduced by £120m by 2019/20. Reductions were  
made in 2020/21 and are planned for 2021/22 in 
specific disciplines.
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N A V I G A T I N G  T H E 
P A N D E M I C

After months of lockdown and continuing restrictions to daily life,  
we knew that returning to campus safely for the 2020/21 academic 
year, was the right thing to do for the wellbeing of our students and 
staff. We also knew that some would be cautious over returning and 
would need reassurance.

Over the summer months, teams from across the University worked together to create 
an environment in which staff and students would feel safe and secure. Any plans we 
made were flexible so that we could adapt quickly to developing situations. 

Creating a safe environment
The measures we put in place during the pandemic were used as an exemplar for others 
by both Universities UK and the Universities and Colleges Employers’ Association. The 
Department for Education also referenced our work as an example of good practice.

• Testing programmes were established for asymptomatic and symptomatic individuals.

• Fast-turnaround testing was introduced on campus ahead of the Christmas break,  
to allow students and staff to travel home safely.

• Over 300 staff and student volunteers supported individuals isolating both on and off 
campus, by collecting prescriptions and parcels, food shopping, and picking up books 
from the library.

•  1,936 isolation requests were completed through Loughborough Students’ Union’s 
COVID Community Champions initiative.

Over 105,000 tests  
carried out on  

campus between  
December 2020  
and May 2021 

(PCR and lateral flow)

University Connect and 
Protect service launched  

to track possible and 
confirmed cases on campus 

and ensure individuals  
were properly supported
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Widening access to ventilators

Loughborough engineers designed and built a unique low-cost,  
non-electric ventilator, designed for under-resourced areas with  
unreliable electricity supply and limited specialist knowledge.

• The ShiVent system has undergone testing at Loughborough’s  
National Centre for Sport and Exercise Medicine (NCSEM),  
Leicester Royal Infirmary Hospital and Glenfield Hospital.

• Units were also sent to Lagos, Nigeria and India for further trials.

Adapting technology in the fight against COVID-19
• Early results showed that technology developed at Loughborough to test for contaminants  

in the drinks industry could be used for rapid pre-screening and diagnosis of COVID-19.  
The technology, developed by university spin-out Figura Analytics, has the potential to  
provide a diagnosis in less than 20 minutes, by counting and identifying viral particles in  
a small saliva sample.

• Initial findings from another study led by the University showed that COVID-19 can be  
detected via a non-invasive breath test, providing almost instant results. The technology 
uses markers or ‘breath signatures’ to rapidly distinguish COVID-19 from other respiratory 
conditions at point of need, such as an emergency department, a workplace or a care setting, 
with no laboratory support.

Expertise in language and social interaction
Loughborough expertise has helped shape the public response to the pandemic in the  
UK and internationally. This includes contributions to the UK government’s SAGE groups,  
guidance for NHS staff engaged in difficult conversations with COVID-19 patients and  
families, and tackling the harmful effects of misinformation.

Getting large-scale events back up and running 
A new Loughborough-led study has been creating guidance on how to design and operate  
non-domestic buildings to minimise the risk of airborne transmission of COVID-19 and  
other viruses.

The government funded AIRBODS (Airborne Infection Reduction through Building Operation 
and Design for SARS-CoV-2) project was announced in May 2021, with trials taking place at 
several ‘test’ venues including the O2 arena, Wembley Stadium, a nightclub event in Liverpool 
and the Crucible in Sheffield.

Several researchers across the University changed the direction of 
their work, to provide insight, answers and guidance to one of the 
biggest societal challenges of recent time. 

P A N D E M I C - R E L A T E D 
R E S E A R C H  A N D  E N T E R P R I S E

The catering team 
provided over 120,000 

meals for students 
living on campus, free 
of charge, during the 

period of their isolation

WINNER  
Royal Academy of 

Engineering’s Africa 
Prize for Engineering 

Innovation’s One to  
Watch Award 2021

TICKET 

REQUIRED

“The work we are doing will help get large-scale events 
and venues back up and running in a safe way, providing 
scientifically proven information and advice on ventilation 
and building management, to reduce the risk of airborne 
transmission of COVID-19 and other viruses.

“But it will not only benefit this sector; it can be used 
in all non-domestic settings, including healthcare, 
education and retail.”

Professor Malcolm Cook, Dean and Professor of Building Performance Analysis,  
School of Architecture, Building and Civil Engineering

Around 90% of students 
were accessing campus 

testing every week – 
higher than any other 

UK university 
(Spring 2021)
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T H E  L O U G H B O R O U G H 
E X P E R I E N C E

The University is known for offering a  
life-changing experience, both academically  
and socially. We provide students with an 
exceptional environment, in which they can gain 
the skills, knowledge and experiences they need, 
to build the future they want.

Supporting students during the pandemic
During 2020/21, the pandemic continued to have a significant 
impact on our students’ time at Loughborough, but we 
reacted quickly, flexibly and innovatively to deliver an adapted 
version of our award-winning experience.

Back to campus
A range of measures were introduced for students including 
socially distanced arrival arrangements and the operation 
of household bubbles. These bubbles enabled students to 
socialise and meet new people in a safe way. International 
students who had to quarantine were provided with a range of 
virtual social events to ease their entry to Loughborough.

Loughborough Students’ Union delivered a Freshers’ Week 
programme that focused on virtual and COVID-secure events 
on campus.

Teaching was delivered through a blend of in-person and 
online sessions, with both academic and professional 
services staff ensuring that our students continued to  
receive excellent support with minimal disruption.

Student support
As winter approached, the predicted second wave of COVID-19 
cases arrived. Having already put measures in place to keep 
students safe, the University worked to keep the virus under 
control in our community and provide the support needed to 
those affected by it.

Support services continued to be delivered online, including 
mental health support, careers advice and guidance for 
international students on travel arrangements. 

In halls of residence and private housing off campus, the 
University provided meals, toiletries, parcel collection and 
other essentials to households that had to isolate. 

For further information on how the University navigated the 
pandemic, visit page 06.

Making graduation happen
At the end of the 2019/20 academic year, many students missed out 
on the opportunity to finish their Loughborough journey properly, 
when our traditional graduation ceremonies were cancelled due to 
COVID-19 restrictions. 

After a challenging 18 months for our students, the University gave 
both our 2020 and 2021 graduates the chance to celebrate their 
success. We were one of the only universities in the country to run 
on-campus, COVID-secure graduation ceremonies.

47 CEREMONIES
held across a  
two-week period

OVER 6,400 
STUDENTS
celebrated at 
graduation

STUDENT SERVICES OFFERED 18,940 
APPOINTMENTS TO STUDENTS, 
SUPPORTING THEM TO REMAIN WELL 
DURING A REALLY DIFFICULT TIME.
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“Despite COVID-19, the University has been fantastic and I have thoroughly enjoyed my 
time here! The support this year has been excellent and I have always known that I have 
had people looking out for my wellbeing; when we were isolating, we had constant food 

deliveries and staff checking we were OK. Whilst teaching was online, my lecturers tried 
their best to engage and make learning as fun as possible.”

Student review from studentcrowd.com

*Based on English HEIs excluding specialists, FECs and alternate providers

High quality courses
Ensuring our students are satisfied  

with their courses is a key priority for  
the University. During 2020/21 we  

received several accolades and  
awards that recognised this.

RANKED 2ND* IN ENGLAND  
(3RD IN UK) FOR  

OVERALL SATISFACTION*
National Student Survey 2021

•
BEST UNIVERSIT Y IN THE WORLD  
FOR SPORTS-RELATED SUBJECTS  

FOR THE FIFTH YEAR RUNNING
QS World University Rankings  

by Subject 2021

•
1ST FOR COURSE QUALIT Y

University Compare Top 100  
universities 2022 

•
TOP THREE FOR COURSE 

SATISFACTION
The Guardian  

League Table 2021

High quality support and services
The University is known for offering a life-changing 

experience, both academically and socially. High  
quality support services are key to achieving this, and  

during 2020/21 many of our services and facilities  
were recognised for this.

TOP FIVE FOR  
STUDENT EXPERIENCE

Times and Sunday Times  
Good University Guide 2021

•
TOP THREE FOR  

CAMPUS AND FACILITIES
Best UK Universities 2021, StudentCrowd

•
TOP THREE FOR  

STUDENTS’ UNION
Best UK Universities 2021, StudentCrowd

•
BEST ACCOMMODATION  

IN THE UK
University Compare Top 100 universities 2022

•
TOP THREE FOR JOB PROSPECTS  

AND CAREERS SERVICE
Best UK Universities 2021, StudentCrowd

New courses
We continuously review the courses we offer and their content, to 
ensure that both the qualifications and experiences our students 
attain are relevant to the society they will be graduating into. 
During 2020/21, the University announced several new master’s 
programmes for prospective students. 

Two innovative postgraduate programmes on climate change
MA Climate Change Politics and Policy and MSc Climate Change 
Science and Management will address the urgent societal challenge 
and science of climate change, as well as risk and management.

Bio-focused engineering master’s programmes
MSc Biomedical Engineering and MSc Biotechnology will create 
highly skilled, biologically savvy engineers with an advanced-level 
understanding of the interplay between the two disciplines, to 
combat the remarkable health and sustainability challenges the 
world faces at present.

MSc in Intelligent Transport 
The University introduced this course as a response to a transport 
system that is significantly changing due to the development of 
autonomous, intelligent systems that can act independently of 
humans. Designed in collaboration with industry, it will address 
economic, social and environmental transport challenges and 
consider new technologies within the sector.

Joint master’s programme between Loughborough University 
London and IÉSEG School of Management 
The unique MSc in Entrepreneurship and Innovation programme will 
immerse students in a multicultural experience in which they will 
develop the critical skills to drive change in existing companies or to 
develop their own start-up. Students will benefit from the expertise 
of both institutions and from the infrastructures in two dynamic and 
entrepreneur-friendly European cities.



NEW RESEARCH AND IMPACT 

WEBSITE LAUNCHED 

www.lboro.ac.uk/research

ALMOST 1,200  

RESEARCH STUDENTS

OVER 880 STAFF MEMBERS 

IN RESEARCH, TEACHING 

AND ENTERPRISE
OVER
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E X C E P T I O N A L 
F A C I L I T I E S

New £1m high-performance computer installed  
at the University
The Lovelace system will transform the University’s computing 
capability, attract world-class researchers and boost funding 
opportunities. The system consumes roughly half the electricity of  
its predecessor whilst delivering three to four times the output.

World’s first large-scale slope simulator
The University announced it will create the world’s first  
large-scale slope simulator, thanks to a £500,000 grant from  
the Wolfson Foundation.

The simulator will revolutionise national and international research 
capacity in this field, to help build resilience to the increasing 
environmental risks caused by climate change.

S U P P O R T I N G  
R E S E A R C H  G R O W T H

Doctoral training overseas
In February 2021, the Doctoral College launched a new 
collaborative doctoral training programme with five South 
African universities.

The programme has been established to support talented South 
African academic staff to continue their educational journey.

Post-doctoral development programme in 
infrastructure, cities and energy launched
A Loughborough-led partnership was awarded £4m by Research 
England for the development of C-DICE, a new centre for  
post-doctoral development in infrastructure, cities and energy. 
The programme will:

•  develop world-class postdoctoral researchers with the 
advanced technical skills needed in these sectors. 

•  tackle how we accelerate progress towards a net zero-carbon 
society by 2050.

•  bring together 18 higher education institutions as well as 
industry and other stakeholders, including HS2 and Severn 
Trent Water.

R E S E A R C H

Research at Loughborough is built on 
excellence and relevance. We inform and 
shape public policy, improve lives and society, 
and enable business and industry to compete 
more effectively. Our work explores global 
challenges and inspires positive change. 

“This is one of the most intriguing and important grants awarded 
this funding round. It is based around brilliant science and will be 
one of the only facilities of its kind – not just in the UK but beyond.”

Paul Ramsbottom,  
Chief Executive of the Wolfson Foundation



Playing a pivotal role in government plans
It was announced in November that the University will 
host a new £4.3m centre to improve the sustainability of 
the UK’s chemical industry. The Interdisciplinary Centre 
for Circular Chemical Economy will be based in the 
Department of Chemical Engineering and will involve 
seven universities and more than 20 industrial and 
international partners.

Transforming how industry works
In June 2021, a team of experts from the University’s 
School of Mechanical, Electrical and Manufacturing 
Engineering were named as part of a £7.3m project to 
create the first-ever manufacturing cyber-seed.

Funded by the Engineering and Physical Sciences 
Research Council (EPSRC), the ‘cyber seed’ will allow 
scientists to produce innovative designs for new 
products, ranging from aircraft parts to medical devices, 
that are bespoke to end-users and suited to the local 
environment with the materials available, all at the push 
of a button from anywhere in the world.

Brain power
At the start of 2021, scientists from the University’s 
Department of Chemistry started work on a project  
that will see human brain stem cells used to power 
artificial intelligence (AI) devices and bring about a 
revolution in computing. 

The Neu-ChiP project received just over £3m from 
the European Commission’s Future and Emerging 
Technologies (FET) programme, to show how neurons  
– the brain’s information processors – can be harnessed 
to supercharge computers’ ability to learn while 
dramatically cutting energy use. 

Perpetual Plastic for Food-to-Go project
An interdisciplinary team of design and engineering 
researchers, led by our School of Design and Creative 
Arts, was awarded £1m at the end of 2020, to research 
the negative impacts of and alternatives to single use 
plastic packaging. 

COVID-related research
Our research efforts were also responsive to the 
COVID-19 pandemic, with many of our researchers 
adapting the focus of their work to support the global 
fight against the virus. Examples of this work can be 
found on page 07 of this report.

Landmark research and development 
agreement
As part of its innovation programme, HS2 Ltd has signed 
a ground-breaking agreement with leading infrastructure 
research centres in UK universities, including 
Loughborough, which will enable it to access world-
leading research capabilities, knowledge and facilities.

The deal with the UK Collaboratorium for Research on 
Infrastructure & Cities will help drive new insight and 
technologies to support building affordable, low carbon, 
modern infrastructure.

Midlands’ bid to become a world-leader  
in advanced ceramics received significant 
cash boost
In July, the Midlands Industrial Ceramics Group (MICG)  
– of which we are a founding member and lead academic 
partner – secured £18.3m in government funding 
through UK Research and Innovation’s flagship Strength 
in Places Fund (SIPF).

The funds will underpin a world-leading industrial and 
academic research and development programme over 
the next four years, creating a cluster of new businesses 
in the Midlands and strengthening the regional supply 
chain. Thousands of jobs are expected to be created in 
the area.
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S T R O N G  P E R F O R M A N C E
Despite the ongoing pandemic, the University has performed well in attracting new 
research funding to support diverse projects. Below are some examples of our research 
activity during 2020/21 and some new projects starting soon. 

£45M SECURED IN NEW GRANTS FOR RESEARCH DURING 2020/21

SECURED FOR RESEARCH PROJECTS DURING 2020/21

NEW GRANTS
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E N T E R P R I S E

Enterprise is at the heart of the University’s activities, enhancing the student experience, 
creating impact through economic development partnerships and Loughborough University 
Science and Enterprise Park (LUSEP), which is home to more than 90 organisations. 

The University, as a regional anchor institution, engages with its local areas in the  
East Midlands and East London, to drive growth and regeneration. 

ACTIVE KNOWLEDGE  
TRANSFER 

PARTNERSHIP  
(KTP) PROJECTS 
DURING 2020/21

OVER

THE TOTAL VALUE  
OF THE UNIVERSIT Y’S  
KTP PORTFOLIO FOR 

2020/21

ALMOST

THE TOTAL VALUE  
OF THE UNIVERSIT Y’S  

CURRENT KTP 
PORTFOLIO

Sharing our expertise
Knowledge exchange is an essential part of the University’s work alongside research and teaching.  
The University supports businesses through Knowledge Transfer Partnerships (KTP). These partnerships 
enable businesses to bring in new skills and the latest academic thinking to deliver a specific, strategic 
innovation project.The University’s KTP portfolio has experienced strong growth and activity during 
2020/21, with areas such as data science and deep learning, materials, engineering and chemistry all 
currently highly represented.

The University’s significant contribution to the regional economy and society was also highlighted in 
Research England’s first Knowledge Exchange Framework (KEF), which was released in March 2021.

The KEF data looks at the performance of English Higher Education Providers (HEPs) from a variety  
of different perspectives, including public and community engagement, working with partners ranging  
from big businesses to small local firms, and how HEPs commercialise their research.

Overall, Loughborough was in the: 
• top 10% of all English HEPs for the ‘Working with business’ metric
• top 20% for ‘Local growth and regeneration’.
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Enhancing career prospects
In May, the University worked in partnership with Loughborough College 
to launch a Careers and Enterprise Hub in Loughborough, that will help 
local people enhance their skills to access the careers market, progress 
their existing career or launch a new business idea.

• Specialist advisers from the University will provide expert support to 
aspiring entrepreneurs.

• It is among the first projects in the UK to be completed using money 
from the Government’s Town Deal scheme.

• The initiative aims to boost the local and regional economy as it 
bounces back from the impact of the pandemic.

Student and graduate enterprise
Activity has continued to expand in this area, ensuring that students 
and graduates are supported throughout their enterprise journey. This 
includes the launch of a new initiative, Evolve Validator programme, 
which supported 50 students to test and validate their ideas, prove 
concepts and register their businesses across both our Loughborough 
and London campuses.

Award-winning flagship office development
A flagship office for leading business management software provider, the 
Access Group, was completed on LUSEP in November 2020. The 100,000 
sq. ft. building will generate £1.6m per year for vital Leicestershire 
County Council services, as well as create hundreds of new jobs. In June 
2021, the building received the NEC award, which recognises excellence 
in how building contracts are managed across the world.

“We have had great initial feedback from the drinks 
industry to a completely new way for them to rapidly 
analyse their products and ingredients and look forward 
to building our business as we further develop our 
technology platform and manufacturing capability.”

Nick Whitehurst, CEO, Figura Analytics

Spinout success
Having built a strong intellectual property (IP) portfolio, our recent 
prioritisation of research commercialisation is reflected in the 
achievements of the University’s recent spinouts, all of which have 
attracted significant external investment.

Figura Analytics – a University nanotechnology spinout – successfully 
raised £180,000 in seed round funding from private investors and the UK’s 
leading early-stage investor SFC Capital.

The company was spun-out of cross-disciplinary chemistry research 
in January 2021, to develop a rapid testing technology platform aimed 
at helping the drinks industry to improve quality and consistency of 
ingredients and finished products.

The Figura Analytics team

The flagship office for the Access Group on LUSEP.

Mutual benefits
The Doctoral College launched a new placement 
experience that enabled PhD students to be consultants 
in local SMEs. ‘Doctoral Innovation Consultants’ was 
designed to enhance our Doctoral students’ business 
networking skills and future employability, whether 
in academia or industry, whilst also supporting local 
businesses to find solutions to real challenges.

Six students took part in a successful pilot run, which was 
funded by Santander. They were paid to work as part of 
a small student consultancy team, supporting start-up 
businesses at LU Inc, whilst continuing their PhD studies 
in parallel.

Boosting business locally
In July, the University launched another exciting initiative 
that aims to help local people working on unique, early-
stage products or services, bring their vision to life.

The two-year business start-up accelerator programme 
will be delivered by LU Inc. (Loughborough University’s 
incubator) in partnership with Charnwood Borough Council 
and will help to develop a new generation of businesses in 
the area that are resilient to future challenges.

“It is crucial we take action to help rebuild  
our economy and foster resilience within a  
post-pandemic recovery.”

Professor Chris Rielly, Dean of the School of Aeronautical, 
Automotive, Chemical and Materials Engineering and lead  
for the University’s Town Deal initiatives

SportPark expansion
A £6m expansion to SportPark was approved, fuelling the 
ambition for Loughborough to be at the heart of a global 
sports hub.



Over 100 students, staff, alumni 
and Loughborough-based athletes, 

travelled to Tokyo for the 2020 
Olympic and Paralympic Games

Loughborough-associated athletes 
won 14 medals in the Olympic 
competition, equating to over  

20% of Team GB’s final medal haul

21 medals were won by 
Loughborough-associated athletes  

in the Paralympic competition

S P O R T

We are proud of our hard-earned reputation for sport at Loughborough. Through world-leading 
coaching, outstanding student experiences, state of the art facilities and superb events, we create 
an inclusive, positive and life-shaping sporting experience for all. 
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3600 HOURS 
LOGGED 

BY SPORT 
VOLUNTEERS

VOTED BEST UNIVERSIT Y 
IN THE WORLD FOR 
SPORTS-RELATED 

SUBJECTS – FOR FIFTH 
CONSECUTIVE YEAR

QS World University Rankings by 
Subject 2021

UK ANTI-
DOPING (UK AD) 

RELOCATED TO THE 
UNIVERSIT Y’S EAST 
MIDLANDS CAMPUS

OVER 100 
MASTERCLASSES AND 

WORKSHOPS DELIVERED 
TO STUDENTS BY 
LOUGHBOROUGH 

SPORT’S COACH AND 
VOLUNTEER ACADEMY 

Sport through the pandemic
Our unique multi-sport campus and the COVID-secure provisions we 
put in place to protect our community and elite athletes has meant that 
Loughborough has continued to lead the sports sector.

Within our facilities, elite athletes have continued to train and the 
outstanding results at Tokyo show the impact we have had on sport 
globally. We have attracted high-profile camps from teams such as  
Celtic F.C, West Ham United, Bristol City and GB Rugby 7s team. 

For our community, we have worked tirelessly to provide the very best 
sporting experience for all ensuring that, when safe to do so, everyone  
can enjoy sport at Loughborough. 

Research facility supported major tournament
The Sports Technology Institute played a key role in the official Euro 2020 
ball research. This is the ninth consecutive major tournament ball that  
has benefitted from research or testing at the University.

New Loughborough Lightning franchises launched
The number of teams under the Loughborough Lightning franchise doubled 
from three to six this year, with new teams launched for cycling, wheelchair 
basketball and football.

Loughborough Lightning Cycling was also awarded Elite Development Team 
status by British Cycling – in recognition of its work to support Britain’s best 
aspiring road riders on their journey to success on the world stage.
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WHEELCHAIR 
BASKETBALL BECAME 

THE 60TH ATHLETIC 
UNION CLUB

OVER 170 STUDENTS 
ENGAGED IN WHEELCHAIR 
BASKETBALL ACTIVITIES 

ACROSS SOCIAL AND 
RECREATIONAL SPORT 

PROGRAMMES

It was announced that the wheelchair basketball team will 
compete in the world’s first women’s professional wheelchair 
basketball league

Four para sport performance programmes were introduced 
(Para-Athletics, Para-Swimming, Para-Cycling and  
Para-Triathlon)

Boccia was introduced to the ‘My Lifestyle’ recreational sport 
programme (in addition to wheelchair basketball)

Inclusive Sport Festival set up, featuring a variety of inclusive 
sports including boccia and sitting volleyball

The University was announced as a partner in £1M+  
Para Sport Against Stigma project that aims to change 
attitudes towards people with disabilities in Africa

P A R A  S P O R T
Since launching the new para sport vision at the end of 2019, much progress 
has been made towards creating life-shaping opportunities through the 
development of an inspirational and inclusive para sport offer. During 2020/21:

JOHN STEELE, 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

OF SPORT AT 
THE UNIVERSIT Y, 
AWARDED AN OBE 

AND ANNOUNCED AS 
NEXT CHAIR OF THE 

COMMONWEALTH GAMES 
ENGLAND BOARD
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P E O P L E  A N D 
O R G A N I S A T I O N A L 
D E V E L O P M E N T

Our people are fundamental to the University’s ongoing success. 
Their energy, enthusiasm, hard work and dedication have 
underpinned Loughborough’s top ten position in the UK’s league 
tables. We invest in the professional development and wellbeing 
of our employees and have created a vibrant and inclusive 
community culture across both campuses, in which people enjoy 
working and can perform at their best.

An inclusive future
Creating an inclusive environment for all has been a key focus for the People 
and Organisational Development Team during 2020/21. For example, an 
equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) sub-committee was established to shape 
and deliver the University’s aspirations to be more inclusive. 

For further examples of the University’s progress in EDI see page 18.

OVER 3,650  
MEMBERS OF STAFF 

(December 2020)

RETAINED THE EUROPEAN 
COMMISSION’S HR 

EXCELLENCE IN  
RESEARCH AWARD

SILVER AWARD  
IN THE MINISTRY OF 
DEFENCE EMPLOYER 

REWARD SCHEME
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Support during the pandemic
Supporting staff and their wellbeing has been a key priority over the last year, particularly 
ensuring that they felt safe when returning to campus. 

• Testing programmes were established to allow for all staff and students to be tested 
regularly on campus, with the University delivering the highest level of testing 
compliance in the sector.

• A contact tracing system was also created to identify potential cases and ensure 
individuals were properly supported.

• A lone working app was launched to identify and protect colleagues working alone  
on campus. The app also allows the individual to request emergency assistance  
should they need it and helps to locate them.

• A new contractor management app was launched that enables managers to quickly 
check that individuals have completed the online induction and that other necessary 
documents have been submitted and reviewed. It also allows contract managers to 
quickly identify a contractor and how they should be working if they have concerns.

• 650 jobs were protected through the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme. 

For further information on the University’s response during the pandemic, see page 06. 

A new way of working
A Dynamic Working Group was established to look at hybrid working practices.

• The group was created to reconsider our working practices for the future,  
including the places we might work and our patterns of working.

• A framework of optimal future working practices is being developed, that balances  
the considerations of the University, staff and students.

New beginnings
Professor Nick Jennings CB was announced as Loughborough University’s next  
Vice-Chancellor and President. Christine Hodgson CBE joined the University as  
Chair of Council in January 2021.

Nursery acquisition
The on-campus nursery transitioned from Loughborough Students’ Union across to 
the University. The acquisition will play an important role in supporting the People and 
Organisational Development Strategy, by providing support to families.

Trade Union Facility Time Data
Section 13 of the Trade Union Act 2016 has introduced a new requirement on public  
sector employers to publish data on facility time. 

The University’s data for 1 April 2020-31 March 2021 is as follows:

Trade Union Representatives 19

FTE Trade Union Representatives 12.5

Hours spent on paid facility time 6686

Hours spent on paid trade union activities 0

Percentage of total paid facility time hours spent on paid TU activities 0%

Total cost of facility time £144,782

Percentage of pay spent on facility time 0.09%

Distribution of working hours Number of TU reps at LU

0% of working hours 0

1-50% of working hours 19

51-99% of working hours 0

100% of working hours 0
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E Q U A L I T Y , 
D I V E R S I T Y  A N D 
I N C L U S I O N  ( E D I ) 

The Loughborough University community is a diverse body of people with different 
perspectives, values and attitudes. We seek to promote an inclusive environment 
where differences are shared, valued and embraced; where any unfair treatment 
or discrimination is challenged and eliminated; and where all individuals can 
reach their full potential regardless of their background.

Much work has been done across the University during 2020/21 to move the 
University forwards in this area, all of which positions us well for carrying the 
agenda forwards as a key part of the University’s new strategy.
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19UNIVERSIT Y’S  
EQUALIT Y,  DIVERSIT Y 

AND INCLUSION  
BLOG LAUNCHED

blog.lboro.ac.uk/edi

LAUNCHED VOICES  
OF DIVERSIT Y:  

BAME SPEAKER 
SERIES

AGE APPRECIATION 
GROUP (AAG) 
RELAUNCHED

ONE YEAR OF MAIA 
– LOUGHBOROUGH 

WOMEN’S STAFF 
NET WORK CELEBRATED 

ITS ONE YEAR 
ANNIVERSARY

SEVEN OF OUR NINE 
SCHOOLS HAVE NOW 

RECEIVED ATHENA 
SWAN AWARDS

Building an inclusive community
• A new sub-committee and advisory forum have been established to  

focus on EDI, to ultimately shape and deliver the University’s aspirations  
to be more inclusive and anti discriminatory.

• Co-opted positions representing Black, Asian or other minority  
ethnic (BAME), LGBT+ and disabled colleagues were created on  
University committees.

• LEADING, the Loughborough Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Networked 
research group was launched. The group will encourage EDI research 
collaborations across disciplines, raise the profile of our research in  
this area, and use its work to enhance the student and staff experience. 

Responding to current events
During 2020/21, a sector-leading move saw the following measures  
introduced in recognition of race-based COVID-19 stress and  
anti-Black violence:

• Compassionate leave for BAME staff.

• Funding for counselling.

• Adaptation of the mitigating circumstances regulations for BAME 
students.

• Introduction of anti-racism resources for first-year students.

Supporting women in STEM
The School of Aeronautical, Automotive, Chemical and Materials  
Engineering (AACME) was awarded the Athena SWAN Bronze award for  
its achievements and ongoing efforts to improve equality, diversity and  
inclusion within the School.

Staff support networks
Several staff support groups have been launched/relaunched  
during 2020/21.

• Maia – Loughborough Women’s Staff Network celebrated its one year 
anniversary and launched a successful mentoring scheme for its  
450 members.

• LGBT+ Staff Network established a new committee.

• BAME Staff Network produced the Loughborough University Race Equity 
Strategy (LURES).

• The Inclusivity Staff Network doubled its membership and successfully 
delivered training to raise awareness of the experiences of disabled staff, 
such as neurodiversity and hearing loss in the workplace.

Showing our commitments
• First university in the UK to sign up to the Halo Code, which supports  

students and staff to wear their Afro hair how they choose to.

• The University joined over 130 businesses and 
organisations to support the transgender community 
by signing up to the Trans Rights Are Human  
Rights campaign.

• The University signed up to Consent Collective TV for all students  
and staff to take part in conversations about consent, sex, gender,  
sexual harassment, and relationships. Over 275 people have signed  
up so far.
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S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y

The University is committed to acting in a socially responsible way that 
maximises its positive and minimises its negative impact on society and the 
communities we are based in. We do this by embedding sustainability and  
social responsibility into all our processes, operations and developments. 

T H E  U N I T E D  N A T I O N S  S U S T A I N A B L E 
D E V E L O P M E N T  G O A L S  ( S D G )
The University signed the SDG Accord in 2019, making a commitment to help deliver the 
17 goals. Set up by the United Nations General Assembly, the goals are designed to be a 
“blueprint to achieve a better and more sustainable future for all”. Loughborough is at the 
start of its journey in aligning policies, procedures and research. The goals we have had the 
highest impact with in the last 12 months are:

W A S T E  A N D  R E C Y C L I N G

The University works hard to reduce waste, maximise 
reuse, increase recycling and divert waste from landfill 
at every opportunity. Data in this area has been severely 
impacted by the pandemic, but there are still some 
successes to be acknowledged:

As part of the 
Give ‘n’ Go campaign 2021…

AROUND 100 BAGS  
OF CLOTHES  

were donated to the  
British Heart Foundation

•
Over 60 crates of 

KITCHEN CROCKERY, POTS,  
PANS AND UTENSILS

were donated to a charity in Nottingham 
who also benefitted from  

50 bags of duvets and bedding

•
Over 50 crates of food were 

DONATED TO A  
LOCAL FOOD BANK

70%  
OF OVERALL WASTE  

was recycled, compared to  
29% in 2009/10

WASTE WAS REDUCED 
BY 500 TONNES  

compared to  
pre-pandemic

23% OF WASTE WAS 
CONVERTED TO ENERGY 

compared to 0%  
in 2009/10

ONLY 7% OF  
UNIVERSITY WASTE 

went to landfill, compared to 
71% in 2009/10
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T E A C H I N G  A N D 
L E A R N I N G
• The campus has continued to be used as a ‘living 

laboratory’ where students can learn and conduct 
research. Examples of locations and projects include  
the Holywell Research Forest, the Fruit Routes Project,  
and the forest school. 

• The University has also launched two new master’s degree 
programmes on climate change during the last year.  
For further information see page 09 of this report.

• Academic departments and schools have been regularly 
conducting fieldwork and projects for students that are 
designed to combat real issues onsite.

• The School of Business and Economics has appointed 
two new Honorary Visiting Professors to strengthen its 
research and practice in sustainability. Martin Barrow, 
Director of Footprinting at the Carbon Trust, and Professor 
Robert D. Klassen of Western University in Canada, are 
regarded as world leading authorities in their field.

C A R B O N  M A N A G E M E N T

It takes a lot of energy to support a world-class university, but we are 
committed to ensuring we operate in a sustainable way. 

• The 30-year plan provides framework to decarbonise the estate.
• Work will also safeguard the institution against escalating energy costs.
• Absolute carbon emissions have reduced by 32% compared to 2010/11.
• Carbon emissions relative to student numbers have reduced by 37% compared to 2010/11.

B I O D I V E R S I T Y

ENERGY STRATEGY
2020-2050 

was approved in  
November 2020

NET-ZERO 
greenhouse gas 

emissions by 2050

32 CHARGING  
POINTS INSTALLED

to support the transition to 
low carbon electric vehicles

TARGET – 78% REDUCTION 
in greenhouse gas emissions 
by 2035 compared to 2010/11

Winner of the inaugural 
BSIF WATER 
POLLUTION 

PREVENTION AWARD 

MAINTAINED 
GREEN FLAG STATUS 

for 2020

NEW GARDENS 
STRATEGY PRODUCED

in 2020
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R I S K S  A N D 
U N C E R T A I N T I E S

Financial Statements Year Ended 31 July 2021

The University has comprehensively reviewed its strategic risk register during the 
COVID-19 pandemic in order to ensure delivery of the strategy in challenging times.

Overview
The University has continued operations in challenging times, dealing with both the structural financial  
issues posed by regulated income streams and rising costs and the enduring uncertainty resulting from the  
COVID-19 pandemic.

The University acted swiftly to control cost and preserve liquidity during the pandemic while ensuring that  
actions did not undermine the future financial sustainability of operations.

Council has carried out a comprehensive review of its strategic risk register and evaluated lines of  
assurance (first, second and third lines of defence) for all entries. The strategic risk register currently  
reflects the following areas of operation:

RISK OVERVIEW OF RISK

IT & DATA  
SECURITY

Failure of IT infrastructure resulting in operational disruption, major data 
loss, breach of regulations, reputational damage and/or financial loss

GOVERNMENT 
POLICY

Reliance on student fee income resulting in the University being 
disproportionately impacted by future changes to HE sector funding 

INTERNATIONAL 
STUDENTS

Reliance on a single geographical region for international student 
recruitment leaving the University vulnerable to political or 
macroeconomic factors that reduce international student demand for  
UK higher education

PENSIONS The University’s commitment to two defined benefit pension schemes 
requiring disproportionate allocation of resources to tackle deficits 
resulting from macroeconomic conditions

COMPLIANCE 
CULTURE

In an increasingly regulated environment, the University needing to 
enhance the culture of compliance with legislation, regulation, or ethical 
standards

STAFF  
WELLBEING

Changes to the nature of work in higher education, including change 
to pensions and increased regulation, resulting in staff dissatisfaction, 
absence, or industrial action

STUDENT 
EXPERIENCE

The University needing to monitor and then adapt to or manage changing 
student expectations 

The risk register is owned by Council with operational management delegated to the Director of Finance and  
with oversight provided through the Audit Committee. All risk items are regularly reviewed but, as in previous 
years, we draw specific attention to the following areas where we perceive enhanced levels of risk in the short  
to medium term.
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RISK 4
PENSIONS

Macroeconomic factors continue to drive 
pension scheme deficits and there is notable 
regulatory pressure to address deficits more 

quickly by shortening deficit recovery periods.  
It appears that a resolution to the 2020 

valuation of the Universities Superannuation 
Scheme (USS) is achievable in such a manner 

as to avoid significant increases to contribution 
rates which are already at the limits of 

affordability. However, concluding the 2020 
valuation will involve additional covenant 
support measures from employers and 

significant benefit reform to members which 
is likely to result in further industrial action 

within the higher education sector.

RISK 3
INTERNATIONAL 

STUDENTS
As reported last year, the University’s 

dependence on international students from 
China swiftly changed from being a key tool 

to diversify income to be a major driver 
of risk. This is as a result both of mobility 

restrictions linked to the COVID-19 pandemic 
and geo-political unrest. The University 
continues to show strong demand from 

international students and we continue to 
work to diversify our student population both 
to protect income but also to ensure the best 
possible international experience for those 

coming to live and study in the UK. 

RISK 2
GOVERNMENT  

POLICY
The sector continues to expect but has yet to 
receive clarity on changes to the University 
funding model following the Augar report. 

Meanwhile the underlying challenge to 
higher education funding in England, the 
inflationary gap caused by static fees and 

rising costs, remains unaddressed. However, 
some element of stability to the fees and 

funding regime is perceived to be neutral in 
terms of impact on risk given the inherent 
uncertainty in the economy as we emerge 

from COVID-related restrictions.

RISK 1
IT & DATA  
SECURITY

The COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated 
the pace of change in working patterns 

and methods of teaching delivery. This has 
increased reliance on technology infrastructure 
and cyber threats are increasingly directed not 
only to our own systems but to those hosted by 
third parties. The University has assessed the 
assurance level required in this area as high 

and has strengthened both the internal control 
environment and governance oversight through 
Audit Committee and Information Technology  

& Governance Committee. 
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Cash flow
Net cash inflow from operating activities totalled £51.6m, 
17% of income. This represents a significant increase on 
recent years and reflects the stringent expenditure controls 
maintained throughout the year. 

New challenges emerged as we progressed through the 
year; global mobility presented significant challenges for 
our international student community, periods of lockdown 
and domestic restrictions limited our ability to operate 
our commercial revenue streams and implementing 
safety measures and new ways of working came at a cost. 
Throughout this period of uncertainty, our approach was 
focused on the wellbeing of our students and colleagues 
and to restrict expenditure to all but critical spend to provide 
headroom against the risks to income. In the short term 
this has inflated our cash holdings, but as we move forward 
into more certain times, we anticipate a return to more 
sustainable levels of expenditure. 

The University continued to restrict capital expenditure as 
part of our on-going response to the pandemic. Payments 
to acquire tangible fixed assets totalled £14.4m, partly 
offset by capital grant receipts of £5.4m and £0.8m of other 
receipts to generate a net cash outflow from investing 
activities of £8.2m. Cash outflows from financing activities 
remain consistent with previous years at £8.0m, comprised 
of interest and loan repayments. These movements combine 
to deliver a net increase in cash and short-term deposits of 
£35.4m, resulting in a cash holding of £104.1m on 31 July 
2021; this upside being one-off in nature and therefore not 
a recurring improvement in cash generation which could 
support recurring expenditure.

Balance sheet
Net assets increased by £14.0m to £290.8m.

Fixed assets decreased by £20.0m to £474.3m. Capital 
investment was focused on several smaller projects, IT and 
existing estate maintenance as we continued to mitigate 
the on-going challenges. It is our intention for Capital 
expenditure to return to normal levels, broadly in line with 
operating cash generation, over the coming years. 

Long term loans decreased to £103.6m (2019/20: £108.7m) as 
a result of capital repayments during the year. The University 
maintains significant headroom on its bank covenants and 
almost all long-term debt continues to be subject to fixed 
rate agreements. We continue to hold a £50m revolving credit 
facility, which remains undrawn at year end.

We hold three pension provisions on our balance sheet; 
Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), The Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) which is administered 

The COVID-19 pandemic continued to present challenges, with consolidated income 
down 5% year on year. However, our continued focus on controlling expenditure means 
that we delivered a surplus of £9.8m and generated £51.6m of net operating cash 
(17% of income). The headline numbers mask the narrative of the year: prioritising the 
wellbeing of our students and colleagues, implementing stringent short-term controls 
and navigating unquantifiable uncertainty in our income streams. 

F I N A N C I A L 
R E V I E W
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2020-21 2019-20

£m £m

Income  311.7  327.3 

Expenditure before USS  
pension movement 

(300.8) (308.9) 

Surplus before other losses/gains  
and USS pension movement 

 10.9  18.4 

 USS pension movement (1.7)  36.3 

Surplus for the year  9.1  54.4 

Operating cash flows  51.6  36.8 

Investing cash flows (8.2) (27.2) 

Financing cash flows (8.0) (8.6) 

Net cash flow  35.4  1.0 

Cash and cash equivalents  104.1  68.8 

Non current assets  495.0  514.8 

Current assets  133.4  99.6 

Current liabilities (63.2) (61.5) 

Non-current liabilities (106.9) (112.7) 

Provisions (167.4) (163.3) 

 Total net assets  290.8  276.9 

O P E R A T I N G  C A S H  F L O W  A S 
A  P E R C E N T A G E  O F  I N C O M E

2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18%
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2020/21 2019/20 % Change

Tuition fees and education contracts  172  175 -1%

Funding body grants  42  39 7%

Research grants and contracts  36  38 -7%

Other income  57  73 -23%

Investment income  0  0 -70%

Donations and endowments  5  1 294%

Total income 312  327 

2 0 2 0 / 2 0 2 1
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T O TA L  I N C O M E

by Leicestershire County Council and The Teachers’ Pension 
Scheme (TPS). As of 31 July 2021, the TPS provision was 
£1.7m, a reduction of £0.2m. The LGPS provision was £122.1m, 
an increase of £3.9m. The USS provision was £43.2m but, 
whilst that reflects an increase of just £0.2m, the continued 
uncertainty regarding the funding of the USS pension scheme 
as a sector remains one of our key risks.

Income
In 2020/21 total income decreased £15.6m (5%) to £311.7m. 
However, it is important to note that the prior year was also 
impacted, and our pre-pandemic growth trajectory reflected 
an income of £345m, on which the shortfall is closer to 10%. 

Our tuition fee income was relatively resilient, underpinned 
by our swift actions to help students adapt to the logistical 
challenges; our transition to online teaching was embraced by 
colleagues and students and the implementation of a January 
start for PGT courses was well received.

Fees from Home/EU students of £116.5m (2019/20: £107.1m), 
accounted for 37% of the total income of the University and 
68% of total tuition fees (2019/20: 33% and 61% respectively). 

Fees from International students, where we are anticipating 
growth, were more significantly impacted and totalled £51.0m 

(2019/20: £60.4m). This represents a 16% decrease and 
the impact of global mobility restrictions. 

Grants from funding bodies increased £2.8m (7%), to 
£42.2m, including an additional £1.2m of capital funding 
from Research England as part of their World Class 
Laboratories fund. This funding was used primarily to 
fund state of the art research equipment, for use not just 
for our own researchers but also partner organisations. 

Research grants and contracts income decreased by 
£2.5m (7%) to £35.5m, in part reflecting the challenges 
posted by restricted campus access or social distancing 
limitations, as some projects ran behind planned 
schedules. We continue to have a strong application 
pipeline through the University. 

Other income decreased by £16.6m (23%) to £56.8m. 
£13.5m of this reduction is due to recognition of a capital 
grant in the prior year for the commissioning of the 
NCCAT facility. The remaining reduction is due to the 
continued challenges that our hotel and conference 
operations faced, with limited operations throughout the 
year. We once again reacted swiftly to credit students for 
accommodation contracts during the second lockdown,  
in early 2021.
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T O TA L  E X P E N D I T U R E

Expenditure
Total expenditure increased by 11%, to £302.5m. However, 
the prior year was significantly impacted by the USS pension 
movements. Expenditure before USS pension movement 
decreased by 3% to £300.8m. 

As in previous years, the majority of expenditure (60%) 
relates to staff costs, which increased by £40.0m (28%) to 
£180.6m, largely due to a revaluation of the USS provision 
(£36.3m) referenced above. Removing the impact of this and 
other non-cash pension adjustments, underlying staff costs 
have increased 1.1% as a result of general staff inflation.

Other Operating Expenditure has decreased by £9.4m (10%) 
to £85.4m as a result of strong budgetary control during the 
COVID-19 pandemic and the reduced direct costs associated 
with challenged income streams. 

Depreciation increased £0.5m (2%) to £31.2m, resulting 
from sustained investment in campus infrastructure 
over the years. The increase also reflects our increasing 
allocation of capital expenditure to IT, which generally has  
a shorter period of depreciation.
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2020/21 2019/20 % Change

Staff costs 181 141 28%

Other operating expenses 85 95 -10%

Depreciation 31 31 2%

Interest and other finance costs 5 6 -19%

Total expenses 302 273
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Future financial outlook
At the time of preparation of these financial statements 
we have much to be excited about. The reaction of 
the University, both colleagues and students, has 
demonstrated our unique culture and ability to 
overcome challenges and our vibrant campuses 
are returning to a degree of normality following 
the relaxation of the most stringent restrictions. 
The University remains in a Top 10 position in all 
domestic league tables and the 2021 admissions 
cycle demonstrated strong demand from high calibre 
students across both campuses. Our financial plans 
reflect recovery of commercial income streams and 
international student mobility, but at a relatively 
prudent pace. Our robust expenditure controls mean 
we have navigated the pandemic without utilising any 
of the government support schemes in the form of 
debt, and therefore have no repayments to draw upon 
cash in future years. 

However, some of our, and the sector’s, key  
challenges remain.

COVID-19
The elements of our income (International students 
and commercial) most affected by the COVID-19 
pandemic are the diversified incomes streams 
developed in recent years to mitigate the inflationary 

pressure implicit in the funding model for English higher 
education, with static regulated tuition fees but a rising 
cost base. Whilst the primary restrictions on these are 
starting to ease, we continue to plan prudently for the 
pace of their recovery. Our robust financial management, 
both before and during the pandemic, enabled us to take 
a long-term view and leaves us in a strong position to 
react to any strategic change following the appointments 
of a new Chair of Council and Vice-Chancellor.

Comprehensive spending review  
As outlined above, the inflationary gap between domestic 
student fees and rising staff costs creates a sustainability 
challenge for us, and the entire sector. We now await 
the outcome of the Government’s spending review but 
continue to model a range of scenarios on fee structure. 
Our strategy in recent years to focus on quality, rather 
than growth, alongside our diverse course offering should 
help us navigate any changes that are delivered. 

Universities Superannuation Scheme
We have assumed that the proposal approved by the Joint 
Negotiating Committee, following the 2020 valuation, is 
adopted. It is likely that this will result in industrial action 
across the sector. The University will strive to mitigate 
the impact of this at Loughborough, but it will remain a 
national issue requiring resolution.
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new postgraduate  
research students (with 
start dates in 2020/21) 
received funding from  
the Doctoral College, 

equating to over £2.3m

In total, over

was awarded to 
new and existing 

postgraduate research 
students during 2020/21

D E L I V E R Y  O F 
P U B L I C  B E N E F I T 

Loughborough University is an independent corporation established by Royal Charter 
and has exempt charity status.

This information describes how the University has delivered activity for the benefit of 
the public, taking into consideration the guidance on public benefit, as set out in the 
Charities Act 2011. Due regard has also been given to the University’s responsibilities 
as a charitable body, which is regulated by the Office for Students (OfS).

O U R  M I S S I O N
By delivering public benefit at a local, national and global level, the University contributes to:

• knowledge and understanding across all sectors 

• the drive to make education accessible to everyone 

• industry and economic growth 

• the level of talent and excellence in industry

• Loughborough’s economy, community and social environment.

P U B L I C 
B E N E F I T  I N 
N U M B E R S 
( 2 0 2 0 / 2 1 )

OVER

awarded in scholarships 
and bursaries to 1,129 
postgraduate taught 

students in both 
Loughborough and London

OVER

awarded in bursaries and 
tuition fee waivers to over 

2,100 undergraduate students 
through the Loughborough  

Scholarship Programme
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OVER

A C A D E M I C  B E N E F I T
Delivery of public benefit through our core 
academic objectives – teaching, research  
and enterprise.

Research
Our research helps shape public policy, improves lives, and 
enables business and industry to compete more effectively. 
The results impact on everyday actions within society and 
their global consequences. For more information on research 
activity at the University see page 10.

Teaching and learning
We are committed to supporting students throughout their 
educational journey and helping them to reach their full 
potential by removing unnecessary barriers. For further 
information see page 08 of this report.

Employable graduates
The Loughborough experience is designed to create 
employable graduates that will go on to contribute 
significantly to society.

Enterprise
Enterprise enhances the impact of our public benefit by 
connecting the work we do with the outside world across 
industry, public bodies and charities. The impact can be 
localised but significant, linking to global issues such as 
reducing pollution and improving human health. For more 
information on enterprise activity at the University see page 12.

C O R P O R A T E
Our approach to social responsibility: how we run our 
business; the way we work with external organisations, 
and the impact our actions have on the local 
community and economy.

Sustainability
We recognise that many of our activities have environmental  
impacts and we take responsibility for these whilst also responding 
to global challenges such as climate change; human wellbeing; 
and food, water and energy security. For more information on our 
sustainability work, see page 20.

Community
We are committed to delivering opportunities and support for  
those beyond our campus boundaries, including local charities  
and community groups, and delivering initiatives and events for  
the public to attend. 

Fundraising and volunteering
Both the University and Loughborough Students’ Union have a long 
history of fundraising and volunteering to support local, national  
and international causes. Examples of activity in 2020/21 can be  
found below.

Economic impact
External evaluations have shown that the University’s impact on  
the economy is around £1.0bn and supports approximately 14,400 
full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs.

participants engaged with 
widening participation 

events/activities delivered 
by the School and College 

Liaison team

OVER

raised for Rag by 
Loughborough 

Students’ Union 

The team  
worked with

schools and colleges 
across the country to 

raise the aspirations of 
younger generations 

OVER

students went on 
year-long placements 
with more than 1,089 
companies worldwide 

OVER

prospective students  
and their guests 

benefitted from virtual 
and campus-based events

hours of volunteering 
were completed by 
student volunteers 
through LSU Action 

OVER
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S T A T E M E N T  O F  
C O R P O R A T E  G O V E R N A N C E

The following statement is given to assist 
readers of the financial statements to obtain an 
understanding of the governance procedures 
applied by the University Council (Council).

The Royal Charter sets out the objectives which form the 
University’s charitable purpose: 

“to advance knowledge, wisdom, understanding and professional 
competence through teaching, research and collaboration with 
industrial and other bodies and to develop the character of its 
students by virtue of its corporate life”. 

The University is committed to observing good practice in all 
aspects of Corporate Governance. Council initiated a review 
of its own effectiveness in March 2021 and Advance HE have 
been engaged as external consultants. The final report was 
submitted to Council at its meeting in November 2021 and  
full implementation of the recommendations will follow 
during 2021/22. These may include some changes to the 
current committee structure. Arrangements for the next 
effectiveness review of Senate will be agreed as part of the 
follow up to the Council effectiveness review (the last Senate 
review was in 2017/18). 

The University has continued to keep its compliance with 
the Higher Education Code of Governance published by 
the Committee of University Chairs (CUC) under review 
and is confident its processes comply with the revised 
Code published in September 2020. Scope for any further 
enhancements will be identified as part of the 2021 
effectiveness review referred to above.

The University’s Structure of  
Corporate Governance
The operation of the University is governed by its Charter, 
Statutes, Ordinances and Regulations. 

The Council, the governing body of the University, comprises 
independent (lay), academic staff, non-academic staff and 
student members appointed or elected under the Statutes 
and Ordinances of the University, the majority of whom  
are non-executive. The role of Chair of the Council is 
separated from the role of the University’s chief executive,  
the Vice-Chancellor. Christine Hodgson CBE took over from  
Sir Peter Bonfield CBE on 1 January 2021, when the latter  
stepped down after nine years of service.

The Vice-Chancellor is the University’s senior academic and 
administrative officer, who also serves as the Accountable 
Officer to the Office for Students. Professor Robert Allison 
CBE stood down from the role on 31 July 2021 after nine 
years in post and the Deputy Vice-Chancellor, Professor Chris 
Linton served as Acting Vice-Chancellor between 1 August 
2021 and 3 October 2021. On 4 October 2021, Professor Nick 
Jennings CB took up the post of Vice-Chancellor.

In accordance with the CUC Code (2020), Council has published 
a list of its primary responsibilities and these include the 
ongoing strategic direction of the University and approval of 
major developments. The University holds full registration as 
a higher education provider with the Office for Students. Along 
with its own governing instruments, this means that final 
decision-making on certain key matters is specifically reserved 
for Council. Council meets at least four times a year and is 
advised by the Senate on academic issues. 

The University also has the status of an exempt charity. This 
means that members of Council have the responsibilities of 
charity trustees in relation to ensuring the institution’s work 
is for the public benefit and that it complies with Charity 
Commission expectations, overseen in the HE sector by the OfS.

Both Council and Senate conduct their routine business through 
a committee structure; some of the committees are jointly 
composed and many include lay representation. This structure 
is kept under review and the sub-committees reflect regularly 
on their own effectiveness. 

The financial management of the University rests with 
the Operations and Finance committees. The Operations 
Committee, comprising executive officers, has responsibility 
for the integration of academic, financial and physical planning 
and the allocation of resources to academic schools and 
Professional Services. The Operations Committee monitors 
the budget holders on a regular basis. Finance Committee 
is responsible for advising Council on both the University’s 
financial strategy and treasury management; the Committee is 
chaired by the Vice-Chancellor and comprises executive officers 
and lay members of Council. 

The external auditors address their report on the financial 
statements to Council through the Audit Committee which 
comprises lay (independent) members of Council, who are 
not otherwise involved in the management of the University, 
and other independent persons appointed by Council. Both 
internal and external auditors report to the Audit Committee 
on a regular basis. The Committee considers their detailed 
reports together with any recommendations on the systems 
and controls in operation. The Secretary of Council leads a 
working group of relevant staff which oversees compliance with 
the Office for Students conditions of registration. The Audit 
Committee also pays due regard to the terms of the University’s 
registration with the Office for Students. The Committee 
appoints the internal auditors whilst Council appoints the 
external auditors. 

Both internal and external auditors have direct access to  
the Chair of Council, the Chair of Audit Committee and the  
Vice-Chancellor at any time. 

The Nominations Committee of Council is chaired by the Chair 
of Council and includes lay members, academic members and 
the Vice-Chancellor with lay members in the majority. Its role 
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is to make recommendations to Council on the appointment 
of senior lay officers (excluding the Chair of Council) and on 
the appointment of other lay members of Council as well as 
advise on other matters related to lay contributions to the 
governance of the University. 

The Remuneration Committee of Council which is composed 
of lay members and is chaired by the Chair of Council 
determines the remuneration of professorial and senior 
administrative staff. The Deputy Chair of Council takes the 
chair for consideration of the Vice-Chancellor’s remuneration. 
The Committee’s operations were reviewed carefully in light 
of the additional CUC guidance on senior staff remuneration 
issued in June 2018. 

The University ensures the transparency of its corporate 
governance, risk management, statutory and other regulatory 
responsibilities via the active involvement of experienced and 
independent lay members, together with the work outlined 
above of University committees and the internal and external 
auditors. Council agendas and minutes are available to the 
public on the University website.

Internal control and management of risk 
The Council, as the governing body of Loughborough 
University, has responsibility for maintaining a sound  
system of internal control that supports the achievement of 
strategic objectives, whilst safeguarding the public and other 
funds and assets for which it is responsible, in accordance 
with the responsibilities assigned to the governing body in  
the Charter, Statute XIII and the terms of registration with  
the Office for Students. 

The system of internal control is designed to manage rather 
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and 
objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness. 

The system of internal control is based on an ongoing 
review process designed to identify the principal risks to the 
achievement of policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate 
the nature and extent of those risks and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically. This process has been 
in place for the year ended 31 July 2021 and up to the date 
of approval of the financial statements, and accords with the 
Office for Students guidance. 

The University maintains a strategic risk register which is 
aligned with the University strategy Building Excellence. 

Risk management processes and procedures continue to 
evolve with input from our internal auditors with all work 
being overseen by the Audit Committee. 

Council, both directly and through its committees, is 
responsible for ensuring the delivery of value for money, 
defined as economical, effective and efficient use of resources. 

Council is responsible for the safeguarding of assets and 
oversight of systems to prevent and detect fraud. 

The system of internal control provides for a comprehensive 
financial planning process, assessment of income, 
expenditure, capital and cash flow budgets during the year 
and periodic review of management information including  
the reporting of material variances and the projection of  
out-turn for the year. 

On behalf of Council, the Audit Committee monitors the 
effectiveness of control, governance, the management of risk 
and gains assurance on the University’s arrangements to 
secure value for money and data quality. It receives regular 
reports from the internal auditors, and where relevant, 
the external auditors. Periodic reports concerning internal 
control are received by Council from the Audit Committee. 

Reports on the progress on key projects and regular reports 
from senior management on the steps they are taking to 
manage risks in their area of responsibility are received by 
the Council and its principal committees.

Going concern 
The financial statements of the Group and the parent 
University have been prepared on a going concern basis 
which the Council believes to be appropriate for the  
following reasons. 

The Council has prepared cash flow forecasts for a period  
of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the 
financial statements. After reviewing these forecasts, 
including analysis of severe but plausible downsides, 
including the anticipated impact of COVID-19, and stress 
testing key assumptions such as student intake and the level 
of campus operation, the Group and the parent University 
are expected to have sufficient funds to meet their liabilities 
as they fall due over the period of 12 months from the date 
of approval of the financial statements (the going concern 
assessment period). 

The Group entered 2020/21 with strong liquidity and access 
to significant undrawn borrowing facilities. This, together 
with robust expenditure controls, means that we anticipate 
maintaining substantial strategic cash reserves throughout 
the going concern assessment period. 

Consequently, the Council is confident that the Group and 
parent University will have sufficient funds to continue to 
meet their liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months 
from the date of approval of the financial statements and 
therefore have prepared the financial statements on a going 
concern basis.
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Officers of the University 
The University’s formal principal officer is its Chancellor, who has responsibility for conferring 
Loughborough’s academic awards at congregations and plays an important role in the advancement 
of the University. The Lord Coe CH KBE (Sebastian Coe) was installed as Chancellor in July 2017. 

The Senior Pro-Chancellor, serves as the Chair of Council and also chairs the Nominations and  
Remuneration Committees.

The day-to-day running of the University is the responsibility of the Vice-Chancellor and President, who is the 
academic and executive head and the accountable officer to the Office for Students.

Visitor  Paul Michell 

The Chancellor  Lord Sebastian Coe CH KBE 

The Senior Pro Chancellor (Chair)  Sir Peter Bonfield CBE (until 31 December 2020) 
 Christine Hodgson CBE (from 1 January 2021)

The Pro Chancellors  Alan Hughes (until 31 July 2021) 
 Ann Greenwood (until 31 July 2021) 
 Jennifer Maxwell-Harris (from 31 July 2021) 
 John Sinnott (from 31 July 2021)

Honorary Treasurer  Alan Hughes (until 31 July 2021) 
 Andrea Davis (from 1 October 2021)

The Vice-Chancellor  Professor Robert Allison CBE (until 31 July 2021)  
 Professor Nick Jennings CB (from 1 October 2021)

Deputy Vice-Chancellor Professor Chris Linton  
 (also Acting Vice Chancellor 1 August-30 September 2021)

Pro Vice-Chancellor (Teaching)  Professor Rachel Thomson 

Pro Vice-Chancellor (Research)  Professor Steve Rothberg 

Pro Vice-Chancellor (Enterprise)  Professor Tracy Bhamra (until 30 April 2021)

Chief Operating Officer  Richard Taylor 

Director of Finance  Andy Stephens

Chairs of key committees 
Council  Sir Peter Bonfield CBE (until 31 December 2020) 
 Christine Hodgson CBE (from 1 January 2021)

Senate  Professor Robert Allison CBE (until 31 July 2021) 
 Professor Nick Jennings CB (from 1 October 2021)

Remuneration Committee  Sir Peter Bonfield CBE (until 31 December 2020) 
 Christine Hodgson CBE (from 1 January 2021) 
 For matters relating to the Vice-Chancellor’s remuneration the   
 committee is chaired by Deputy Chair Alan Hughes (until 31 July 2021)  
 or  Jennifer Maxwell-Harris (from 1 October 2021) 

Finance Committee  Professor Robert Allison CBE (until 31 July 2021) 
 Professor Nick Jennings CB (from 1 October 2021) 

Audit Committee  Ann Greenwood (until 31 July 2021) 
 Graham Corfield (from 1 August 2021) 
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Members of the University Council 
who served during 2020/21 and up to 26 November 2021

The Chancellor  Lord Sebastian Coe CH KBE

The Senior Pro Chancellor (Chair)  Sir Peter Bonfield CBE (until 31 December 2020)  
 Christine Hodgson CBE (from 1 January 2021)

The Pro Chancellors Alan Hughes (Deputy Chair; until 31 July 2021) 
 Ann Greenwood (until 31 July 2021) 
 Jennifer Maxwell-Harris (Deputy Chair; from 31 July 2021) 
 John Sinnott (from 31 July 2021)

Honorary Treasurer  Alan Hughes (until 31 July 2021) 
 Andrea Davis (from 1 October 2021) 

The Vice-Chancellor  Professor Robert Allison CBE (until 31 July 2021)  
 Professor Nick Jennings CB (from 1 October 2021)

Deputy Vice-Chancellor  Professor Chris Linton  
 (also Acting Vice Chancellor 1 August-30 September 2021)

Appointed by the Alumni Association  Oliver Sidwell

Appointed by the Students’ Union  Matt Youngs (until 31 July 2021)  
 Fejiro Amam (until 31 July 2021)  
 Freya Mason (from 1 August 2021)  
 Charlotte Style (from 1 August 2021)

Elected by the Senate  Professor Malcolm Cook  
 Professor Claudia Eberlein

Elected by the General Assembly  Dr Marcus Collins  
 Professor Andy Dainty (until 31 July 2021) 
 Professor Lisanne Gibson (from 1 October 2021) 

Other elected members Pauline Matturi 

Co-opted members   Penny Briscoe OBE (from 1 October 2021) 
 Graham Corfield (from 1 August 2021)  
 Andrew Fisher OBE 
 Sally-Ann Hibberd  
 Paul Hodgkinson CBE  
 Peter Saraga  
 Jane Tabor (until 31 July 2021)  
 Steve Varley  
 Mike Wedderburn (from 1 August 2021)  
 Tony Williams 

Key advisers 
External auditor  KPMG LLP 

Internal auditor  PwC LLP
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S T A T E M E N T  O F  T H E 
R E S P O N S I B I L I T I E S  
O F  C O U N C I L

The University Charter establishes Council as the Governing Body of the University, 
subject to other terms of the Charter and the Statutes, and its responsibility for:

 general control over 
the University and all 
its affairs, purposes 
and functions. 

 the management and 
administration of the 
revenue and property 
of the University. 

 the custody and use 
of the Common Seal 
of the University. 

1 2 3
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The Council has identified a number of primary responsibilities 
arising from these general duties under the Charter:

Planning and monitoring
1. To approve the mission and strategic vision of the 

University, long-term academic and business plans and key 
performance indicators, and to ensure that these meet the 
interests of stakeholders.

2. To ensure processes are in place to monitor and evaluate 
the performance and effectiveness of the University against 
the plans and approved key performance indicators, which 
should be, where possible and appropriate, benchmarked 
against other comparable institutions.

3. To ensure appropriate arrangements are in place to monitor 
and evaluate the student academic experience and maintain 
the quality and standards of academic awards.

Financial, legal and risk
4. To approve the annual budget and financial statements, 

to ensure the establishment and monitoring of systems 
of control and accountability, including financial and 
operational controls and risk assessment, and procedures 
for handling internal grievances and for managing conflicts 
of interest.

5. To be the principal financial and business authority of the 
University, to ensure that proper books of account are kept, 
and to have overall responsibility for the University’s assets, 
property and estate.

6. To be the institution’s legal authority and, as such, to ensure 
that systems are in place for meeting all the institution’s 
legal and regulatory obligations, including those arising 
from contracts and other legal commitments made in the 
institution’s name.

7. To ensure that the University has appropriate procedures 
for the management of risk and to oversee the operation of 
these procedures. 

Employment
8. To be the employing authority for all staff in the  

University and to be responsible for establishing a human 
resources strategy.

9. To appoint the Vice-Chancellor as Chief Executive and 
Principal Academic and Administrative Officer of the 
University, in accordance with paragraph 7 of the Charter, 
and to put in place suitable arrangements for monitoring  
his/her performance. 

Governance arrangements
10. To appoint the Secretary to Council, and to ensure that, if 

they have managerial responsibilities in the University, there 
is an appropriate separation in the lines of accountability.

11. To establish processes to monitor and evaluate the 
performance and effectiveness of Council itself.

12. To conduct its business in accordance with best practice 
in higher education corporate governance and with the 
principles of public life drawn up by the Committee on 
Standards in Public Life.

13. To ensure that the University’s Charter, Statutes and 
Ordinances are followed at all times and that appropriate 
advice is available to enable this to happen.

14. In accordance with paragraph 19 of the Charter, to consider 
any recommendations from Senate on matters with academic 
implications and to refer the same to Senate for consideration 
where the Senate has not previously been consulted.

15. To delegate authority to the Vice-Chancellor for the 
appointment of University nominees to the boards of public 
bodies, limited companies and other institutions.

General
16. To safeguard the good name and values of the University.

17. To make such provision as it thinks fit for the general 
welfare of students, in consultation with Senate.

18. To promote equality, diversity and inclusivity throughout 
the University, including in relation to its own operation.

19. To ensure that appropriate provision is made for the 
preservation of health, safety and environmental 
standards.

It follows from the above that Council is responsible for 
keeping proper accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of 
the University and its subsidiary companies and enable 
it to ensure that the financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with the relevant parts of the Royal Charter, 
company law, the Statement of Recommended Practice 
on Accounting for Further and Higher Education and other 
Accounting Standards. 

In addition, within the terms and conditions of funding for 
higher education institutions between the Office for Students 
and the terms and conditions of Research England Grant 
the University, through its accountable officer, is required to 
prepare financial statements for each financial year which 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the University 
and its subsidiary companies and of the surplus or deficit and 
cash flows of the University and its subsidiary companies for 
that year. 

In preparing the financial statements, Council has to  
ensure that:

• suitable accounting policies are selected and  
applied consistently

• judgements and estimates are made that are reasonable 
and prudent

• applicable Accounting Standards have been followed

• the going concern basis is used unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the University will continue in operation. 

Council has taken reasonable steps to:

• ensure that funds from the Office for Students (OfS) and 
Research England are used only for the purposes for which 
they have been given and in accordance with the terms 
of conditions of funding for higher education institutions 
and the terms and conditions of Research England Grant 
respectively, and any other conditions which OfS/Research 
England may from time to time prescribe

• ensure that income from the Department for Education 
is applied for the purpose for which it has been received 
and in accordance with the funding agreement with the 
Department

• ensure that income from the Education & Skills Funding 
Agency and research councils is applied for the purpose 
for which it has been received and in accordance with the 
funding agreement with the relevant body

• ensure that there are appropriate financial and 
management controls in place to safeguard public funds 
and funds from other sources

• safeguard the assets of the University and its subsidiary 
companies and prevent and detect fraud, and

• secure the economical, efficient and effective management 
of the resources and expenditure of the University and its 
subsidiary companies.

26 November 2021 
Christine Hodgson CBE
Chair of Council
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I N D E P E N D E N T  
A U D I T O R ’ S  R E P O R T 
T O  T H E  T H E  C O U N C I L  O F  

L O U G H B O R O U G H  U N I V E R S I T Y

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Loughborough 
University (“the University”) for the year ended 31 July 2021 
which comprise the Consolidated and University Statement 
of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and University 
Statement of Changes in Reserves, the Consolidated and 
University Statement of Financial Position, the Consolidated 
Cash Flow Statement and related notes, including the 
Statement of Principal Accounting Policies.

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and the 
University’s affairs as at 31 July 2021, and of the Group’s 
and the University’s income and expenditure, gains and 
losses and changes in reserves, and of the Group’s cash 
flows, for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with UK 
accounting standards, including FRS 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic  
of Ireland.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our 
ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the group 
in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC 
Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion. 

Going concern
The Council has prepared the financial statements on the 
going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate the 
Group or the University or to cease their operations, and 
as they have concluded that the Group and the University’s 
financial position means that this is realistic. They have also 
concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could 
have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a 
going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of 
the financial statements (“the going concern period”).

In our evaluation of the Council’s conclusions, we considered 
the inherent risks to the group’s business model and analysed 
how those risks might affect the Group and University’s 
financial resources or ability to continue operations over the 
going concern period.

Our conclusions based on this work:

• we consider that the Council’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is appropriate;

• we have not identified, and concur with the Council’s 
assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty related 
to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may 
cast significant doubt on the Group or the University’s ability 
to continue as a going concern for the going concern period.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions 
and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are 
inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time 
they were made, the above conclusions are not a guarantee 
that the Group or the University will continue in operation. 
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Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations  
– ability to detect
To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud 
(“fraud risks”) we assessed events or conditions that could 
indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide 
an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment 
procedures included: 

• Enquiring of the Council, the Audit and Risk Committee, 
internal audit and inspection of policy documentation as to 
the Group’s high-level policies and procedures to prevent 
and detect fraud, including the internal audit function, 
and the Group’s channel for “whistleblowing”, as well as 
whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or 
alleged fraud. 

• Reading Council, Audit & Risk Committee and Finance 
Committee minutes. 

• Obtaining a copy of the Group’s fraud register. 

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the 
audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud 
throughout the audit. 

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account 
possible pressures to meet loan covenants and performance 
targets, we perform procedures to address the risk of 
management override of controls and the risk of fraudulent 
revenue recognition, in particular the risk that income from 
tuition fees is recorded in the wrong period and the risk that 
research grant income is inappropriately recognised due to 
either incorrect overhead recovery or non-compliance with 
terms and conditions of the grant, Group management may 
be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks. 

In determining the audit procedures we took into account 
the results of our evaluation and testing of the operating 
effectiveness of some of the Group-wide fraud risk 
management controls.

We also performed procedures including: 

• Identifying journal entries and other adjustments to test 
based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries to 
supporting documentation. These included those containing a 
revenue impact posted to unusual accounts, those containing a 
cash impact posted to unusual accounts, seldom used revenue 
accounts and those containing specific comments.

• Assessing significant accounting estimates for bias.

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due 
to non-compliance with laws and regulations 

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably 
be expected to have a material effect on the financial statements 
from our general commercial and sector experience, and 
through discussion with the Council and other management 
(as required by auditing standards), and from inspection of the 
Group’s regulatory and legal correspondence and discussed with 
the Council and other management the policies and procedures 
regarding compliance with laws and regulations.   

As the Group is regulated, our assessment of risks involved 
gaining an understanding of the control environment including the 
entity’s procedures for complying with regulatory requirements. 

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our 
team and remained alert to any indications of non-compliance 
throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial 
statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly 
affect the financial statements including financial reporting 
legislation (including related companies legislation), taxation 
legislation, charities legislation, pensions legislation and specific 
disclosures required by higher education and related legislation 
and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and 
regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial 
statement items.   
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Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and 
regulations where the consequences of non-compliance 
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures 
in the financial statements, for instance through the 
imposition of fines or litigation or the need to include 
significant provisions. We identified the following areas 
as those most likely to have such an effect: compliance 
the regulatory framework of the Office for Students, 
recognising  the  regulated  nature of the Group’s activities.  
Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to 
identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations 
to enquiry of the directors and other management and 
inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. 
Therefore, if a breach of operational regulations is not 
disclosed to us or evident from relevant correspondence, 
an audit will not detect that breach.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or 
breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an 
unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some 
material misstatements in the financial statements, even 
though we have properly planned and performed our audit 
in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the 
further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations 
is from the events and transactions reflected in the 
financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited 
procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.  

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk 
of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal controls. Our audit procedures are 
designed to detect material misstatement. We are not 
responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and 
cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws 
and regulations.

Other information 
The Council is responsible for the other information, 
which comprises the Annual Review 2020/21, including the 
Review of the year 2020/21 and the Statement of Corporate 
Governance. Our opinion on the financial statements does 
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do 
not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated 
below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial 
statements audit work, the information therein is materially 
misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work: 

• we have not identified material misstatements in the 
other information; and

• in our opinion the information given in the Annual Review 
2020/21, including the Review of the year 2020/21 and 
the Statement of Corporate Governance is consistent 
with the financial statements.

Council responsibilities 
As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 
34, the Council is responsible for: the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view; such internal control as it determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; assessing the Group and parent University’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless it either intends 
to liquidate the Group or the parent University or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Auditor’s responsibilities 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,  
and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with  
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement  
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or  
error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the 
financial statements. 

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided  
on the FRC’s website at  
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements
We are required to report on the following matters by the 
Accounts Direction dated 25 October 2019 issued by the 
Office for Students (‘the Accounts Direction’).

In our opinion, in all material respects:

• funds from whatever source administered by the Group 
or the University for specific purposes have been 
properly applied to those purposes and managed in 
accordance with relevant legislation; 

• funds provided by the Office for Students, UK Research 
and Innovation (including Research England), 
the Education and Skills Funding Agency and the 
Department for Education have been applied in 
accordance with the relevant terms and conditions; and

• the financial statements meet the requirements of the 
Accounts Direction dated 25 October 2019 issued by the 
Office for Students.

Mark Dawson 
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
One Snow Hill, Snowhill Queensway 
Birmingham B4 6GH
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Matters on which we are required to report  
by exception 
We are required by the Accounts Direction to report to  
you where the University has an access and participation 
plan that has been approved by the Office for Students’ 
director of fair access and participation and the results 
of our audit work indicate that the Group’s and the 
University’s expenditure on access and participation 
activities for the financial year disclosed in Note 11 has 
been materially misstated.

We are also required by the Accounts Direction to report  
to you where the results of our audit work indicate that  
the Group’s and the University’s grant and fee income,  
as disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements has been 
materially misstated.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom  
we owe our responsibilities 
This report is made solely to the Council and in accordance 
with the Charters and Statutes of the institution. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Council those matters we are required to state to them in 
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the University and 
the Council for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 
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F I N A N C I A L 
S T A T E M E N T S
2 0 2 0 / 2 1
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42 1. General information
Loughborough University is an independent corporation 
established by Royal Charter and has the status of an exempt 
charity which is regulated by the Office for Students (OfS).

2. Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) and the Statement of 
Recommended Practice (SORP): Accounting for Further and 
Higher Education (2019 edition). They have also been prepared 
in accordance with the ‘carried forward’ powers and duties of 
previous legislation (Further and Higher Education Act 1992 
and the Higher Education Act 2004) and the new powers of the 
Higher Education and Research Act 2017, the Royal Charter, 
the Accounts Direction issued by the Office for Students (OfS), 
the terms and conditions of funding for higher education 
institutions issued by the Office for Students and the terms and 
conditions of Research England Grant.

The University is a public benefit entity and has therefore 
applied the relevant public benefit requirements of FRS102.

3. Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the 
historical cost convention (modified by the revaluation of certain 
fixed assets and derivative financial instruments).

The financial statements are prepared in sterling which is  
the functional currency of the group and rounded to the  
nearest £’000.

4. Going concern
The financial statements of the Group and the parent University 
have been prepared on a going concern basis which the Council 
believes to be appropriate for the following reasons.

The Council has prepared cash flow forecasts for a period of 
at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial 
statements. After reviewing these forecasts, including analysis 
of severe but plausible downsides, including the anticipated 
impact of COVID-19, and stress testing key assumptions such 
as student intake and the level of campus operation, the Group 
and the parent University are expected to have sufficient funds 
to meet their liabilities as they fall due over the period of 12 
months from the date of approval of the financial statements 
(the going concern assessment period).

The Group entered 2021/22 with strong liquidity and access 
to significant undrawn borrowing facilities. This, together 
with robust expenditure controls, means that we anticipate 
maintaining substantial strategic cash reserves throughout the 
going concern assessment period.

Consequently, the Council is confident that the Group and 
parent University will have sufficient funds to continue to meet 
their liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months from the 
date of approval of the financial statements and therefore have 
prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

5. Exemptions under FRS102
The University meets the definition of a qualifying entity under 
FRS102 and has therefore taken advantage of the disclosure 

S T A T E M E N T 
O F  P R I N C I P A L 
A C C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S

exemptions available to it in respect of its separate financial 
statements. Exemption has been taken in these separate 
company financial statements in respect of presentation of a 
cash flow statement.

6. Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements combine the financial 
statements of the University and all its subsidiary undertakings 
for the financial year to 31 July 2021. Intra-group transactions 
are eliminated on consolidation. Gains or losses on any intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full. Amounts in relation 
to debts and claims between undertakings included in the 
consolidation are also eliminated. 

The consolidated financial statements do not include the 
accounts of Loughborough Students’ Union, as it is a separate 
body over which the University does not exert control and  
nor does it have dominant influence over policy and  
operational decisions.

7. Recognition of income
Income from the sale of goods or services is credited to the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income when the goods 
or services are supplied to the external customers or the terms of 
the contract have been satisfied.

Tuition fees
Tuition fee income is recognised over the period of study to 
which the fee relates. Where the amount of the tuition fee is 
reduced by a discount, income receivable is shown net of the 
discount. Bursaries and scholarships are accounted for gross 
as expenditure and not deducted from income.

Grant funding
Grant funding including funding council/OfS block grants, 
research grants from government sources and grants (including 
research grants) from non-government sources are recognised 
as income when the University is entitled to the income and any 
performance related conditions have been met. Income received 
in advance of performance related conditions being met is 
recognised as deferred income within creditors on the Balance 
Sheet and released to income as the conditions are met.

Capital grants are recognised in income when the University is 
entitled to the funds and any performance related conditions 
have been met.

Funds the University receives and disburses as paying agent 
on behalf of a funding body are excluded from the income and 
expenditure of the University where the University is exposed  
to minimal risk or enjoys minimal economic benefit related to 
the transaction.

Other income
Income, from trading activities, is recognised when the goods 
or services are supplied to the customers or the terms of the 
contract have been satisfied. Investment income is recognised 
on a receivable basis.

Donations and endowments
Resources received from non-government bodies as  
part of a non-exchange transaction will either be treated as 
a donation, or as an endowment in the event the donor either 
wishes an endowment fund to be established, or places 
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sufficiently large restrictions on expenditure such that the  
funds will need to be retained over an extended period.

Donations are recognised as income when the University is 
entitled to the funds and any performance related conditions 
have been met. Where income is received in advance of 
performance related conditions being met, it is recognised as 
deferred income within creditors on the Balance Sheet and 
released to income as the conditions are met.

Where a donor imposes restriction on the use of the donated 
resources, income is retained within a restricted reserve until 
such time as expenditure is incurred in accordance with the 
restrictions. Donations with no restrictions are recognised in 
income when the University is entitled to the funds.

Endowment income is recognised on entitlement to the income. 
The income is retained within an endowment reserve until 
such time as expenditure is incurred in accordance with the 
restrictions of the endowment. Endowments are classified as 
either a permanent endowment, when the donor specifies that 
the capital is to be retained for the benefit of the institution, or as 
an expendable endowment where no such requirement exists.

Investment income received on endowments and restricted 
funds is recorded as income in the year in which it arises, and 
is held in the restricted or endowment reserve to the extent 
it has not been spent in line with restrictions of the donation 
or endowment. Investment gains and losses on endowment 
funds invested for the longer term are recognised in surplus 
or deficit and are credited/debited to the capital portion of the 
endowment reserve.

8. Pension schemes
The University participates in the Universities Superannuation 
Scheme (USS), the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
and the Teachers’ Pensions Scheme (TPS).

The USS scheme is a hybrid pension scheme, providing defined 
benefits (for all members), as well as defined contribution 
benefits. The assets of the scheme are held in a separate 
trustee-administered fund. Because of the mutual nature of the 
scheme, the assets are not attributed to individual institutions 
and a scheme-wide contribution rate is set. The institution 
is therefore exposed to actuarial risks associated with other 
institutions’ employees and is unable to identify its share of the 
underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent 
and reasonable basis. As required by Section 28 of FRS 102 
“Employee benefits”, the institution therefore accounts for the 
scheme as if it were a wholly defined contribution scheme.  
As a result, the amount charged to the profit and loss account 
represents the contributions payable to the scheme. Since the 
institution has entered into an agreement (the Recovery Plan) 
that determines how each employer within the scheme will 
fund the overall deficit, the institution recognises a liability for 
the contributions payable that arise from the agreement (to the 
extent that they relate to the deficit) and therefore an expense  
is recognised.

The TPS is a multi-employer defined benefit scheme for which 
it is not possible to identify the assets and liabilities attributable 
to University members and therefore is accounted for as a 
defined contribution retirement benefit scheme. Contributions 
made are recognised as an expense in surplus or deficit in the 
periods during which services are rendered by employees.  
TPS is valued every five years by the Government Actuary. It is 
an unfunded scheme and contributions are made at the rate set 
by the Government Actuary.

The LGPS is a defined benefit scheme which is externally funded. 

Defined contribution plan
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit 
plan under which the company pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation 
to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined 
contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in 
the income statement in the periods during which services are 
rendered by employees.

Multi-employer schemes
Where the Institution is unable to identify its share of the 
underlying assets and liabilities in a multi-employer scheme on 
a reasonable and consistent basis, it accounts as if the scheme 
were a defined contribution scheme. Where the Institution 
has entered into an agreement with such a multi-employer 
scheme that determines how the Institution will contribute to 
a deficit recovery plan, the Institution recognises a liability for 
the contributions payable that arise from the agreement, to the 
extent that they relate to the deficit, and the resulting expense 
is recognised in expenditure.

Defined benefit schemes
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other 
than a defined contribution plan. Under defined benefit plans 
the Institution’s obligation is to provide the agreed benefits to 
current and former employees, and actuarial risk (that benefits 
will cost more or less than expected) and investment risk (that 
returns on assets set aside to fund the benefits will differ from 
expectations) are borne in substance by the Institution. 

The net liability is recognised in the Balance Sheet in respect 
of each scheme and is the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the reporting date less the fair value of the plan 
assets at the reporting date.

The group should recognise a liability for its obligations under 
defined benefit plans net of plan assets. This net defined benefit 
liability is measured as the estimated amount of benefit that 
employees have earned in return for their service in the current 
and prior periods, discounted to determine its present value, 
less the fair value (at bid price) of plan assets. The calculation 
is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit 
credit method. Where the calculation results in a net asset, 
recognition of the asset is limited to the extent to which the 
Institution is able to recover the surplus either through reduced 
contributions in the future or through refunds from the plan.

Annually the Institution engages independent actuaries to 
calculate the obligation for each scheme. The present value is 
determined by discounting the estimated future payments at a 
discount rate based on market yields on high quality corporate 
bonds denominated in sterling with terms approximating to 
the estimated period of the future payments. The fair value of a 
scheme’s assets is measured in accordance with the FRS 102  
fair value hierarchy and in accordance with the Institution’s  
policy for similarly held assets. This includes the use of 
appropriate valuation techniques. Actuarial gains and losses 
arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are charged or credited to other comprehensive 
income. These amounts together with the return on plan assets, 
less amounts included in net interest, are disclosed as actuarial 
gains and losses.

The cost of the defined benefit plan, recognised in expenditure 
as staff costs, except where included in the cost of an asset, 
comprises the increase in pension benefit liability arising 
from employee service during the period and the cost of plan 
introductions, benefit changes, curtailments, and settlements. 
The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate  
to the net liability. This cost is recognised in expenditure as a 
finance cost.
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9. Employment benefits
Short term employment benefits such as salaries and 
compensated absences are recognised as an expense in the 
year in which the employees render service to the University.

Any unused benefits are accrued and measured as the 
additional amount the University expects to pay as a result of 
the unused entitlement.

10. Finance leases
Leases in which the University assumes substantially all the  
risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset are 
classified as finance leases. Leased assets acquired by way of 
finance lease and the corresponding lease liabilities are initially 
recognised at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value 
and the present value of the minimum lease payments at the 
inception of the lease.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance 
charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability.

The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease 
term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability.

11. Service concession arrangements
Fixed assets held under service concession arrangements are 
recognised on the Balance Sheet at the present value of the 
minimum lease payments when the assets are brought into 
use with a corresponding financial liability. The assets are 
depreciated over the life of the arrangement.

Payments under the service concession arrangements are 
allocated between service costs, finance charges and financial 
liability repayments to reduce the financial liability to nil over 
the life of the arrangement.

12. Operating leases
Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight 
line basis over the lease term. Any lease premiums or 
incentives are spread over the term of the lease.

13. Land and buildings
Land held at 31 July 2014 is stated at deemed cost which is 
equivalent to the market value on this date. Land additions since 
31 July 2014 are stated at cost. 

Buildings are capitalised at cost on initial recognition or, in 
the case of buildings acquired as a result of the merger with 
Loughborough College of Art and Design, at valuation: the basis 
of valuation is depreciated replacement cost and the valuation 
on 31 July 1998 was performed by GVA Grimley, International 
Property Advisors. Improvements to buildings and long-term 
maintenance projects with a value in excess of £50,000 are 
capitalised, to the extent that they increase the expected future 
benefits to the Institution. 

After initial recognition land and buildings are subsequently 
measured at cost/deemed cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses. 

Freehold land is not depreciated as it is considered to have an 
indefinite useful life. Freehold buildings are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over their expected useful lives as follows:

• Freehold buildings between 10 and 60 years depending on the 
method of construction used. 

• Leasehold land and buildings – lifetime of the lease up to a 
maximum of 60 years. 

No depreciation is charged on assets in the course of 
construction. Depreciation is charged from the year of 
completion and is calculated based on the remaining life of the 
improved building or building related plant. Where an item of 
land and buildings comprise two or more major components 
with substantially different useful economic lives (UELs), each 
component is accounted for separately and depreciated over its 
individual UEL. Expenditure relating to subsequent replacement 
of components is capitalised as incurred.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at the date of preparation of each Statement of 
Financial Position.

14. Fixtures, fittings, plant and equipment
All such items, where the cost is less than £20,000 per individual 
item or group of related items, are recognised as an expense in 
the year of acquisition. All other items are capitalised.

Items are stated at cost and depreciated over their expected 
useful life, as follows:

• Computer equipment – between 4 and 7 years

•  Equipment acquired for specific research projects – project 
life (generally 3 years) unless a research grant is received for 
a specific facility, in which case, item would be depreciated 
over the life of the facility

•  Motor vehicles and other equipment – 4 years

•  Plant, furniture and fixtures – between 5 and 25 years

15. Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as expenditure in the period in 
which they are incurred.

16. Heritage assets
Heritage assets are individual objects, collections, specimens 
or structures of historic, scientific or artistic value that are held 
and maintained principally for their contribution to knowledge 
and culture. 

Works of art and other valuable artefacts valued at over £10,000 
have been capitalised and recognised at the cost or value of 
the acquisition, where such a cost or valuation is reasonably 
obtainable. Heritage assets are not depreciated since their 
long economic life and high residual value mean that any 
depreciation would not be material. The assets are subject to 
an annual impairment review in accordance with applicable 
accounting standards.

17. Investment properties
Investment property is land or a building, or part of a building, 
or both held for rental income and/or capital appreciation  
rather than for use in delivering services. Mixed use property  
is separated between investment property and property, plant 
and equipment.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost and then 
subsequently at fair value at the end of each reporting date, with 
changes in fair value recognised immediately in the Surplus or 
Deficit for the year.

18. Stocks
Stocks of goods are stated at the lower of cost and net  
realisable value.
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19. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash includes cash in hand and deposits repayable on demand. 
Deposits are repayable on demand if they are in practice 
available within 24 hours without penalty. 

Cash equivalents are short term (maturity being less than three 
months from the placement date), highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 
insignificant risk of change in value. 

20. Foreign currency transactions
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded  
at the rate of exchange ruling at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated into sterling at year-end rates.

The resulting exchange differences are recorded in surplus or 
deficit for the financial year.

21. Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when 
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. Financial liabilities are classified according to the 
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into.

(i) Financial assets and liabilities
All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at 
transaction price (including transaction costs), except for those 
financial assets classified as at fair value through surplus 
or deficit, which are initially measured at fair value (which is 
normally the transaction price excluding transaction costs), 
unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction.

If an arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, the 
financial asset or financial liability is measured at the present 
value of the future payments discounted at a market rate of 
interest for a similar debt instrument.

Financial assets and liabilities are only offset in the statement 
of financial position when, and only when there exists a legally 
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and the 
Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Debt instruments which meet the following conditions are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method:

a) The contractual return to the holder is (i) a fixed amount; 
(ii) a positive fixed rate or a positive variable rate; or (iii) 
a combination of a positive or a negative fixed rate and a 
positive variable rate.

b) The contract may provide for repayments of the principal 
or the return to the holder (but not both) to be linked to a 
single relevant observable index of general price inflation of 
the currency in which the debt instrument is denominated, 
provided such links are not leveraged.

c) The contract may provide for a determinable variation of 
the return to the holder during the life of the instrument, 
provided that:

 i. the new rate satisfies condition (a) and the variation is 
not contingent on future events other than (1) a change of 
a contractual variable rate; (2) to protect the holder against 
credit deterioration of the issuer; (3) changes in levies applied 
by a central bank or arising from changes in relevant taxation 
or law; or

 ii. the new rate is a market rate of interest and satisfies 
condition (a).

d) There is no contractual provision that could, by its terms, 
result in the holder losing the principal amount or any 
interest attributable to the current period or prior periods.

e) Contractual provisions that permit the issuer to prepay a debt 
instrument or permit the holder to put it back to the issuer 
before maturity are not contingent on future events, other than 
to protect the holder against the credit deterioration of the 
issuer or a change in control of the issuer, or to protect the 
holder or issuer against changes in levies applied by a central 
bank or arising from changes in relevant taxation or law.

f) Contractual provisions may permit the extension of the term 
of the debt instrument, provided that the return to the holder 
and any other contractual provisions applicable during the 
extended term satisfy the conditions of paragraphs (a) to (c).

Debt instruments that are classified as payable or receivable 
within one year on initial recognition and which meet the above 
conditions are measured at the undiscounted amount of the 
cash or other consideration expected to be paid or received,  
net of impairment.

Other debt instruments not meeting these conditions are 
measured at fair value through surplus or deficit.

Financial assets are derecognised when and only when a) the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
expire or are settled, b) the Group transfers to another party 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial asset, or c) the Group, despite having retained some, 
but not all, significant risks and rewards of ownership, has 
transferred control of the asset to another party.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only when,  
the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled 
or expires.

(ii) Investments
Investments in non-convertible preference shares and 
nonputtable ordinary or preference shares (where shares are 
publicly traded or their fair value is reliably measurable) are 
measured at fair value through surplus or deficit. Where fair 
value cannot be measured reliably, investments are measured 
at cost less impairment.

In the University Balance Sheet, investments in subsidiaries and 
associates are measured at cost less impairment.

(iii) Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to reduce 
exposure to interest rate movements. The Group does not hold or 
issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date 
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The 
resulting gain or loss is recognised in surplus or deficit.

(iv) Fair value measurement
The best evidence of fair value is a quoted price for an identical 
asset in an active market. When quoted prices are unavailable, 
the price of a recent transaction for an identical asset provides 
evidence of fair value as long as there has not been a significant 
change in economic circumstances or a significant lapse of time 
since the transaction took place. If the market is not active and 
recent transactions of an identical asset on their own are not a 
good estimate of fair value, the fair value is estimated by using a 
valuation technique.
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22. Provisions, contingent liabilities  
and contingent assets
Provisions are recognised in the financial statements when:

a) The University has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event;

b) It is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation; and 

c) A reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects risk specific to the liability.

A contingent liability arises from a past event that gives the 
Institution a possible obligation whose existence will only 
be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Institution. 
Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a 
provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable 
that an outflow of resources will be required, or the amount of 
the obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that 
gives the Institution a possible asset whose existence will only 
be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the Institution.

Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the 
Balance Sheet but are disclosed in the notes.

23. Impairment of assets
Assets, other than those measured at fair value, are assessed 
for indicators of impairment at each Balance Sheet date.  
If there is objective evidence of impairment, an impairment  
loss is recognised in profit or loss as described below.

Non-financial assets
An asset is impaired where there is objective evidence that, 
as a result of one or more events that occurred after initial 
recognition, the estimated recoverable value of the asset has 
been reduced. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher 
of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 

Where indicators exist for a decrease in impairment loss,  
the prior impairment loss is tested to determine reversal.  
An impairment loss is reversed on an individual impaired asset 
to the extent that the revised recoverable value does not lead to 
a revised carrying amount higher than the carrying value had no 
impairment been recognised. 

Financial assets
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount 
of impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 

For financial assets carried at cost less impairment, the 
impairment loss is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the best estimate of the amount that would be 
received for the asset if it were to be sold at the reporting date. 

Where indicators exist for a decrease in impairment loss, and 
the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, the prior impairment loss 
is tested to determine reversal. An impairment loss is reversed 
on an individual impaired financial asset to the extent that the 
revised recoverable value does not lead to a revised carrying 
amount higher than the carrying value had no impairment  
been recognised.

24. Taxation status
The University is an exempt charity within the meaning of 
Schedule 3 of the Charities Act 2011 and as such is a charity 
within the meaning of Schedule 6 Finance Act 2010. Accordingly, 
the University is potentially exempt from taxation in respect  
of income or capital gains received within categories covered  
by sections 478-488 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or section 
256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the  
extent that such income or gains are applied to exclusively 
charitable purposes.

The institution receives no similar exemption in respect of Value 
Added Tax. Irrecoverable VAT on inputs is included in the cost 
of such inputs. Any irrecoverable VAT allocated to tangible fixed 
assets is included in their cost.

The University’s subsidiaries are liable to Corporation Tax in the 
same way as any other commercial organisation.

Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, is 
provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using 
the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax is provided in full on timing differences which 
result in an obligation at the Balance Sheet date to pay more 
tax, or a right to pay less tax, at a future date, at rates expected 
to apply when they crystallise based on current rates and 
law. Timing differences arise from the inclusion of items of 
income and expenditure in taxation computations in periods 
different from those in which they are included in the financial 
statements. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 
that they are regarded as more likely than not that they will be 
recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

25. Reserves
Reserves are classified as unrestricted, restricted or 
endowment. Endowment reserves include balances which, 
through endowment to the University, are held as a permanently 
restricted fund which the University must hold in perpetuity.

Restricted reserves include balances where the donor has 
designated a specific purpose and therefore the University is 
restricted in the use of these funds.

26. Critical accounting judgements and key 
sources of estimation uncertainty 
In the application of the University’s accounting policies, which 
are described in points 1 to 24 above, it is necessary to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from  
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the University’s  
accounting policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving 
estimations (which are dealt with separately below), that 
have been taken in the process of applying the University’s 
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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Revenue recognition
In the operating of performance model for government grants 
and non-exchange transactions, agreements with funders 
are evaluated for performance conditions, and revenue is 
recognised when these conditions are judged to have been met.

Investment property
The University has reviewed all rental generating properties in 
line with the accounting policy for investment properties. As 
part of this process management has evaluated whether an 
asset is held for the furtherance of the University’s enterprise 
objectives (which form part of the University’s core operations), 
or whether it is held primarily for the generation of rental 
income (and so represents an investment property).

Service concession arrangements 
In determining which operations involving third party operators 
should be accounted for as service concession arrangements,  
the agreements with the third party operators are reviewed to 
identify those that meet the relevant conditions outlined in  
section 34 of FRS102. 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year:

Pensions – USS
FRS 102 makes the distinction between a group plan and a 
multi-employer scheme. A group plan consists of a collection 
of entities under common control typically with a sponsoring 
employer. A multi-employer scheme is a scheme for entities 
not under common control and represents (typically) an 
industry-wide scheme such as Universities Superannuation 
Scheme. The accounting for a multi-employer scheme where 
the employer has entered into an agreement with the scheme 
that determines how the employer will fund a deficit results in 
the recognition of a liability for the contributions payable that 
arise from the agreement (to the extent that they relate to the 
deficit) and the resulting expense in profit or loss in accordance 
with section 28 of FRS 102. The University is satisfied that 
Universities Superannuation Scheme meets the definition of 
a multi-employer scheme and has therefore recognised the 
discounted fair value of the contractual contributions under the 
recovery plan in existence at the date of approving the financial 
statements. This required estimates in respect of future 
headcount, salary changes and the discount rate to apply.

USS is valued every three years by professionally qualified 
independent actuaries, and a liability is recorded within 
provisions for any contractual commitment to fund past deficits 
within the USS scheme. During the year the 2018 valuation was 
completed and details of the outcome of this are included in 
notes 21 and 25 to the Financial Statements. As part of the 2018 
valuation outcome the deficit recovery plan enacted as part of 
the 2017 actuarial valuation was amended with the employers 
now required to contribute 2.0% of salaries towards repairing 
the deficit over the period 1 October 2019 to 30 September 2021 
at which point the rate will increase to 6% to 31 March 2028 
(2017: 5% of salaries over the period 1 April 2020 to 30 June 
2034). Details of this provision, which has been discounted at a 
rate of 0.89% (2020: 0.73%) as at 31 July 2021, are included in 
note 25 to the Financial Statements. 

The sensitivity of the principal assumptions used to measure 
the USS deficit provision are set out below:

Change to current position at 31 July 2021

0.5% pa decrease in discount rate  £0.9m
0.5% pa increase in salary inflation over duration  £0.8m
0.5% pa increase in salary inflation year 1 only  £0.2m
0.5% increase in staff changes over duration £0.9m
0.5% increase in staff changes year 1 only £0.2m
1% increase in deficit contributions from October 2021  £7.1m
1 year increase in term  £7.3m

 
In addition to the conclusion of the 2018 valuation, a valuation 
as at 31 March 2020 is underway but not yet complete. 

Pensions – LGPS
The LGPS deficit is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions 
used. The assumptions are set following advice received from a 
qualified actuary. The following table highlights the sensitivities 
regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the 
scheme liabilities. The carrying value of the net defined benefit 
obligation in respect of the scheme at 31 July 2021 is £122.1m 
(2020: £118.2m).

Approximate increase  
in scheme liabilities

Change in assumptions at 31 July 2021 % £’000

0.1% decrease in real discount rate 2 6,636
0.1% increase in the salary increase rate 0 462
0.1% increase in the pension increase rate (CPI) 2 6,077
1 year increase in member life expectancy 4 12,487

Market value of investment properties
In determining the market value of the University’s investment 
properties, valuations have been performed by professionally 
qualified valuers using assumptions determined using 
market standard methodology. However should any of these 
assumptions be incorrect this could have a significant impact on 
the valuation of these properties.

Useful lives of tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets represent a significant proportion of 
the University’s total assets (31 July 2021: 75%, 2020: 80%). 
Therefore the estimates of the useful lives over which these 
assets are depreciated could have a significant impact on the 
University’s financial performance. The useful lives and residual 
values of the University’s assets are determined at the time the 
asset is acquired or construction is completed, and these are 
based on historical experience with similar assets as well as 
anticipation of future events which may impact their life such 
as expiry of leases. Historically, disposal of assets at the end of 
their lives has not resulted in material loss on disposal charges.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME AND EXPENDITURE
Year ended 31 July 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 July 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
CHANGES IN RESERVES
Year ended 31 July 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 July 2021
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

53

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

54

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

55

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

56

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

57

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

58

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

59

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

60

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

61

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

62

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

63

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

64

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

65

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

66

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

67

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

68

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

69

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

70

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

71

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

72

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

73

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021



A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

V
I

E
W

  | 

74

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2021





Loughborough University
Leicestershire LE11 3TU

T: +44 (0)1509 222 222
E: enquiries@lboro.ac.uk

79
72

6/
C

P
S/

N
O

V2
1

/lborouniversity

/lborouniversity

/lborouniversity

@lborouniversity
@lborolondon

/lborolondon 

/lborolondon 

/lborolondon www.lboro.ac.uk


